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Wednesday, May 16, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MS. LEA:  Good morning, welcome to the technical conference for EB-2017-0364.  This is a technical conference on a motion brought by NextBridge on Hydro One's application.

My name is Jennifer Lea.  I'm helping out with the logistics a little bit today, and I'm not sitting up here out of delusions of grandeur but in order to help out if I can.

You received a schedule yesterday, and we will update that as we go along.

I wonder if we could begin the morning by taking appearances, and because we are so many of us, if you are the primary representative for a party, just give us your name and list the people who are with you, if that would work for everybody.

And we'll start with Mr. Warren, please, for his client.
Appearances:


MR. WARREN:  Yes, my name is Robert Warren.  I'm here for Hydro One Networks.  Co-counsel in this matter to my right is Rosalind Cooper and also with me this morning for this panel is Christine Goulais from Hydro One Networks.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

Ms. Kempton?

MS. KEMPTON:  Kate Kempton, Olthuis Kleer Townshend LLP, on behalf of Bamkushwada Limited Partnership and the BLP First Nations, and with me are Chief Collins from Fort William First Nation and president of BLP, Chief Johanna Desmoulin from Pic Mobert First Nation, and Chief Duncan Michano from Biigtigong Nishnaabeg.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. STEVENS:  David Stevens, counsel with NextBridge.  With me are Brian Murphy and Krista Hughes.

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner, consultant with the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. STRACHAN:  Megan Strachan, counsel to the Métis Nation of Ontario.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. HENDERSON:  And Bill Henderson, counsel for Batchewana First Nation.

MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, the gentleman in the room, could you repeat, please.

MR. HENDERSON:  I am not in the room.  It's Bill Henderson.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Bill.  And I'm taking appearances as well from a gentleman that I'm looking at in the room.  Thank you.

Is the microphone -- doesn't seem to be working.

MR. ADAMSON:  Now it is.  I'll try again.  Nick Adamson, Ministry of Environment and Climate Change, and to my right is Susan Morgan.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, Richard Stephenson.  I'm counsel for the Power Workers Union.

MS. WAGNER:  Tan Wagner with the Independent Electricity System Operator.  I've got Maia Chase and Ahmed Maria here, and I'll make an appearance for Glenn Zacher, counsel.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Any other representative in the back of the room before we move to Board Staff?  Thank you.  Board Staff.

MR. MURRAY:  Lawren Murray, counsel to Board Staff, and with me from OEB staff I have Nancy Marconi, Zora Crnojacki, Saleh Lavaee, and Michael Lesychyn.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, there are several people on the telephone.  We've heard from Bill Richardson (sic).  Thank you.  Who else is on the telephone --


MR. HENDERSON:  Bill -- sorry, Bill Henderson.

MS. LEA:  Bill Henderson.  I do apologize, Mr. Henderson.  Too many people this morning.

Who else is on the phone, please?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Etienne Esquega, counsel to Biinijitiwabik Zaaging Anishnaabek, with my co-counsel Molly MacDonald.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  I'm sorry, you are going to have to repeat that, sir.  It didn't come through our speakers very clearly.

MR. ESQUEGA:  My name's Etienne Esquega.  I'm counsel to Biinijitiwabik Zaaging Anishnaabek, with co-counsel here Molly MacDonald.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Can you please email me -- I think you have my email address -- and I'll pass the spelling of your name on to the reporter.  Thank you.

Who else is on the telephone?

MS. GRICE:  Shelly Grice, representing the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

MS. LEA:  Great.  Thank you.  Anyone else?

Okay, great.  Thanks very much.  As you know we are here today to ask questions and answer questions on the evidence that was filed on the motion in EB-2017-0364, and the first folk who are going to answer questions is the Bamkushwada L.P. First Nations, and we're very pleased to have them with us.

Just a couple of notes.  As you know, the decision-makers on this file will be reading this technical conference, and so in the spirit of cooperation is always appreciated by the Board.  You don't want to be the questioner that badgers a witness or asks unreasonable questions, nor the person who is attempting to answer questions and is unreasonably reticent about what they're saying, so please try to help each other find the evidence that will be useful to the Board in this matter.

Ms. Kempton, perhaps you could introduce your witnesses again, just indicating who is -- whom from left to right, please.

MS. KEMPTON:  From my left is Mr. Duncan Michano, chief of Biigtigong Nishnaabeg.  In the centre is Chief Peter Collins of Fort William First Nation and also president of the board, Bamkushwada Limited Partnership.  And to my right is Chief Johanna Desmoulin, Chief of Pic Mobert First Nation.
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MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I should have said one more thing.  For those of you who are on the telephone, it is very helpful to us here in the room if you mute your phone so that no noise from your area transmits itself into the hearing room.  So thanks very much for that courtesy.

I think, Mr. Warren, you have some questions for the witnesses before us.
Questions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

As I indicated at the outset, my name is Robert Warren.  I am one of the counsel for Hydro One Networks Inc., and I have a few questions for you, based -- the questions are based on the affidavits which you filed in this matter, and if I could begin first with Chief Desmoulin.

If you could turn up your affidavit if you have a copy in front of you, Chief.  And I would ask you to turn to paragraphs 7 and 8.  And in particular in paragraph 8 I'm going to quote from the second sentence in that paragraph, and it reads, quote:
"The more the land in our claimed title area, including the park, is used, or was used up by third parties, the harder it will be for Pic Mobert to use that and the surrounding lands for our own purposes when our title is confirmed."

Are you familiar, Chief Desmoulin, with the application -- with the proposal that my client has for its, what it calls the Lake Superior Line?  Are you familiar with it?

CHIEF DESMOULIN:  Good morning.  This is quite new to me, too, to be sitting at a hearing, so bear with me.

You asked a question, if I am familiar with Hydro One Superior Link.

MR. WARREN:  Let me be specific.  Hydro One Network Inc.'s proposal for its East-West Tie, for its line, is a proposal that, in large part, follows its existing right-of-way.

CHIEF DESMOULIN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. WARREN:  So, for example, in the park what Hydro One is proposing is to replace its existing towers, and it will not increase the area which is covered now by its right-of-way, and I am wondering if you were familiar with that aspect of its application.

CHIEF DESMOULIN:  Sir, I have to admit I am not fully familiar with it again.  When any industry, organization, or something like a transmission line project comes forward, always there has to be -- to consult with the First Nation, and I have never been consulted, so I have to say yes and no, because I've seen it on the news, I've seen it on the media that Hydro One -- excuse me, let me put it -- I just want to use the correct wording here, just to -- for the purpose of this hearing.  No, I have to say no.

MR. WARREN:  Fair point, Chief.  Let me phrase the question this way:  If it were the case that Hydro One, their proposal, if their case once built does not occupy any more land than their existing transmission system -- in other words, not expand their footprint at all -- would that address the concern which you've addressed in paragraph 8 about more claimed title area being used?

CHIEF DESMOULIN:  Would it address the concern?  I have to say it won't address the concern.  Again, I am just going to speak personally as a First Nation person, but also as a Chief.  So many things were taken from us, our culture, our language, and whatever piece of land that we have, you know, to exercise our traditional rights or traditional activities to take care of the land, should that go through with your indicating here on our -- what I'm proposing, what I've signed an affidavit to, and it would affect, you know, I guess that's why I put the intervenor in.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Chief Desmoulin.  If I could move to Chief Michano, please.  And your affidavit, if I could ask you to turn it up, please.

In paragraph 8 of your affidavit, Chief Michano,  you, like your colleague, Chief Desmoulin, has expressed a concern about additional land being used in your traditional territory.

MR. MICHANO:  That's right.

MR. WARREN:  I'll ask you the same question that I asked of Chief Desmoulin, which is that the area which Hydro One Networks proposes for its line will not occupy any more land than their existing right of way does now.  It is within the same area.

Does the fact that they are not going to use more land, does that address the concern which you've addressed in paragraph 8 about more land being used?

MR. MICHANO:  No, and I'll tell you why.

We are in an Aboriginal title land claim.  As part of that land claim, we are looking for additional land as well as compensation.  You know that.

Any use, any impact, any degradation, I guess, of the land related to any type of development will have an impact on us, because we are looking for additional lands and those lands may or may not be part of what we are looking for.

I can't get into specifics about which land we're looking at.  We have those outlined, but because it's litigation privileged, and you know that, because we are in a court case right now.  We are also at the point of getting into preliminary negotiations.

So things are advancing, and they are advancing quickly.  We're at the point where we are talking to MNR and OEM about withdrawals until we get our land base settled.  We are just in the process of doing that now.

So any type of development, there's no way that anybody is going to be able to develop that line, even if it's like on the existing line, without impacting the lands around it because you have to access that somehow.

And even if you access it by helicopter, by chopper, my experience is that the distance is limited, so you have to have a lay down area somewhere and roads getting into that lay down area.  So how do you not impact the surrounding areas?  That's almost impossible.

I guess what our issue is is that we've had so many alienations that when we're looking for additional land through our land claim, we are at a loss of where to actually go, where we've got good viable land that we can use for economic development, that we can use for residential area, the protection of our water sources for future generations, those sort of things.

We're even looking at agricultural land, and we want to try to make sure that we have viable land, not just a scrap that's left over because nobody else wants it.  So we don't want that land to be impacted to a degree where it's not useful for us anymore.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Chief.  Finally, Chief Collins.  If I could ask you to turn up your affidavit, and I'm looking at paragraph 7 of your affidavit.

In that paragraph, you express a number of concerns.  One of the concerns is about loss of training which is being given to a substantial number of Indigenous people.

If my client, Hydro One Networks, were to continue that training or augment it, would that address that concern on your part?

CHIEF COLLINS:  Good morning, everyone.  First of all, the impact of Hydro One and if they get leave to construct has a detrimental to all of the training and all of the work that we've put in place to date.  If you look at the 300 plus people that we have trained in preparation for the November 2018 construction date will be possibly lost to future development if the leave to construct is given to Hydro One and the timeframe is pushed back to 2021.

We have so many different families and so many different studies looking for employment and they went through the whole training process, and if the leave to construct gets pushed back, we may have lost all that training aspect and it will have an impact on all those students.

So will it have an impact on us?  Absolutely.  It will have an impact on the livelihood of the 300 plus that we are training today and the future training.  I mean, once they're trained -- I mean, they are all anticipating being working in November, and that's the impacts that we will be impacted even if you get leave to construct.

MR. WARREN:  My question though, Chief Collins, was if that training were continued bye Hydro One Networks, does that address the concern about training?

CHIEF COLLINS:  It doesn't, because again, if you look at what is anticipated by all of those folks that we're training today, they are anticipated being working on November 2018, not December 2021, or December 2019.  Whatever that case may be, it will have an impact.

Will Hydro One continue the training for those three years, and pay those folks?  I doubt that.  So I guess the impacts that we see today is the impacts of what we are trying to achieve and that, giving our folks a chance to work and operate some of their own businesses and some of their own entities.

MR. WARREN:  The concern that you've expressed, Chief Collins -- am I right in understanding that you have not talked to Hydro One Networks about those concerns?  Is that right?

CHIEF COLLINS:  Again, how can we talk to Hydro One?  We have an implementation agreement, a nondisclosure agreement with our partnering company right now, and Nextbridge.  How do we have those discussions without being in violation or breach of our contract?

MR. WARREN:  You speak in -- thank you for that.  You speak in your affidavit about joint ventures.  Have you entered into joint venture agreements with Nextbridge?

CHIEF COLLINS:  We have a joint venture agreement; we own 20 percent of the company today.  But we also have joint venture agreements with other companies and other industries, and we have a joint venture with our general partners or the general contractors today.

I mean, we have a lot of different ventures that have started to develop and work towards being part of this whole big project.

MR. WARREN:  Finally, Chief Collins -- and this is just a follow-up to an answer you've already given -- in paragraphs 28 and 30 of your affidavit, you refer to exclusivity obligations with Nextbridge.  Can you tell me when that exclusivity arrangement was entered into?

CHIEF COLLINS:  That was 2016 or 2017 -- 2017.

MR. WARREN:  2017, and that exclusivity agreement, does it prevent you from having any discussions with any other potential line developer?

CHIEF COLLINS:  Well, absolutely.  I mean, we created a partnership.  I explained this earlier.  We created a partnership that -- we entered into a partnership structure with our six First Nations.  We now have a partnership arrangement that doesn't give us any leeway to go out and expand that.  Why would we do that?  We have it in place, we have what we wanted.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much, Chief Collins, those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you very much.  Board Staff?
Questions by Ms. Crnojacki:

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Board Staff has a number of questions for Batchewana Limited Partnership.  We are interested in hearing the views of all the members with this panel today, so please feel free to add your perspective, even if another panel member has responded to the question.

Although you already in response to Hydro One's questions noted that there has not been a consultation initiated by Hydro One regarding the Lake Superior Link project, I would like to just confirm if you can tell us, has Hydro One initiated any communication since May 7th, this year?  That's the date you filed your affidavits of evidence?

CHIEF COLLINS:  Again, I'll answer that.  Yes, we had a meeting with them on April the 6th, but it doesn't protrude (sic) to consultation.

One of the things in your -- most of youse are legal people.  You know what a binding contract is, and we are in a binding contract now that we have, and all of our communities have signed with NextBridge, so we can't have a discussion with other parties when we have an agreement, so I don't know how they expect us to have the property -- Hydro One, the property, consult us without us violating our contract and our obligation that we have in place today.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.

So in your evidence you raised a number of concerns with respect to Hydro One meeting its duty to consult, and you just explained to us one of the constraints, which is quite important in terms of how you see the possibility of the consultation going ahead with Hydro One.

In your view, is there a way for Hydro One to meet its duty to consult if Hydro One's leave to construct application is not dismissed?

CHIEF COLLINS:  Can you repeat that so that we can...

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Do you think that Hydro One can meet its duty to consult obligation if the application goes ahead; in other words, if it is not dismissed by the Ontario Energy Board?

CHIEF COLLINS:  I guess I don't see how they can meet their duty to consult because they have not even given us that consideration in advance of filing for leave to construct.  If proper consultation, they would have advised us in advance, and that's our struggles and that's our problems, you know.  They didn't take us into consideration when they filed the leave to construct or consult with us to advise us that they were going to file.

I mean, we've been at this process for over five years now, you know, and I look at it from this way:  OEB has set a precedent, because we were a partner with HONI several years back, and we filed to be the builder of the transmission line in partnership with HONI, but that went off the table when OEB awarded the contract to NextBridge, so we had no choice but to start having those discussions with NextBridge, and we come to an agreement, and that's where we are at today.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.

Does Chief Michano or Chief Desmoulin have any comments regarding this question or response to Chief Collins?

CHIEF MICHANO:  No, I've got nothing to add to that.

CHIEF DESMOULIN:  I would like to add, processes in each First Nation is unique, and for ourselves, again, Pic Mobert First Nation, when again industry or Hydro or HONI comes to our community, just like NextBridge did, they just don't go and see the Chief and Council.  We are accountable to people.  And this is process just like any other business or what's happening here, it is process.  And I respect, and I would think that, again, people that know Aboriginal law or have anything to do with legalities with First Nations, they would understand that we have a process in place too.  We just don't make decisions as a Chief and Council.  We have to take that out to the people, and we honour our people's decisions, and we would like them to be consulted.

We would have, you know, appreciated to have been consulted, and that did not happen.  And with our people, that's what we intend to do.  We want to respect our people and consult too, so that's going to be a process in itself; that's not going to be a three-week thing or one-day thing.  That might even take up to a year because, again, you know, we have people living in the community.  We have, like, 900 members.  We have 400 on reserve and 500 off reserve.  We have some living in Thunder Bay; we have some living in Sault Ste. Marie.  We actually have some people living in Toronto, so we have to communicate with those people to let them know what's helping, and we think we do a fine job, or we try to do our best, anyway.

Again, respect, that's a biggy there, in terms of communicating and in terms of consulting because, again, we consult with our people.  I wanted to add that.

And if I can, I'd like to add with Chief Collins, what he talked about.  As you can see in my affidavit, I became Chief in 2009, and it wasn't because I was, you know, your typical politician, whatever a politician might look per se for every individual here.  I was chosen as Chief because our community wanted change.  And that was my question.  What do I bring to my people?  Do I bring healing, wellness?  And how I do go about doing that?  And do I bring economics.

And there was an opportunity that came out, like he had said.  A transmission line was coming through our traditional territories, and six Chiefs went, Fort William, Michipicoten, like, the six that are on here, but the three of us that went there, and we talked to, I believe it was Brad Duguid, and we had a meeting with him.  We said there is a transmission line coming through, we understand that, we hear that, and we want an opportunity to be a part of this transmission line, because so many times again, in my lifetime, my father's lifetime, industry came and industry went, and it left the people and it left the land basically raped, or there was nothing left to the land.  So when this was coming through -- and this is -- it's going to stay with me, because I'm not going to be like, you know, my grandfather or my dad, I'm going to be a part of this process.  And we tried to ask, let us go with Hydro One.  They had other players at that table, but we went to meet and said we were interested, we are capable, and, you know, I guess Hydro One put their bid in and they said we lost and NextBridge won.

So what did we have to do because they won?  We had to go knocking on NextBridge's door when NextBridge came to us, and we said, Yeah, we have to have a talk.  And it wasn't easy discussions, I have to admit that, and I think NextBridge could admit that, because I don't think people necessarily, like, even today, acknowledge that every town, every city you go through in Ontario, especially from Toronto to -- or I say Thunder Bay to Sault, because that's my little local area -- every town that you go through, there is a traditional territory in there, every town, and I'm just asserting, and I'm going to take care of my traditional territory one way or the other, and I've got to put that out there.

Like I said, we did it, and not necessarily, you know, you can't -- it's government again that tells us no, and then, you know, go basically swallow your values and make the best deal you can for your people so you could feed your people, and to deal with some of the issues that we struggle with.

And here we are, we've done it, and again you bring us back to the table again to say, Well, there's HONI now -- we were looking at HONI now, and come back to the table.  We are so much forever in pawns, but like I said, I'm not prepared to, you know, to be another pawn.

Like we've said, we signed agreements.  We want to go forward.  We are looking forward to going forward, and we don't want to tell our people, Okay.  You know, you are going to have to wait another year.  That's good you got some training, and then meanwhile, good luck, because we have to go back to the table again and deal with whatever government's putting at us.  So with that, I just want to -- I had to add to that.

Thank you.  I hope that answers your question.

MS. KEMPTON:  May I provide some clarification about the exclusivity provision?

MS. LEA:  Sorry, who's speaking?

MS. KEMPTON:  Kate Kempton.  May I provide some clarification?  It's the same almost identical exclusivity clause we had with HONI and GLPD at the designation stage, and it does not prevent consultation, and I would turn parties to Exhibit E of Chief Collins' affidavit, the letter from Bamkushwada to HONI sets out -- it doesn't set out the exact content of the clause, but it does set out an overview.

If you turn to the third -- second full paragraph on page 2 of that letter and following paragraphs, the -- what it does is say that Bamkushwada Limited Partnership and the constituent First Nations can't compete with themselves.  We are partners and parties to the East-West Tie project, and we are not going to -- and we committed to not compete with ourselves, just like anybody else would not compete with themselves by entering into competitive negotiation and competitive agreement with a competitor, like HONI in the same process.

And that's what it says.  It says that parties cannot -- parties to the agreement between NextBridge and BLP are not permitted to enter into discussions, or negotiations, or agreements in respect of a competitive bid.

It does not prevent consultation.  But what it does is, to the extent that from our point of view, the duty to consult is -- has two more words attached, "and accommodate."  It is the duty to consult and accommodate, because the duty must always be with the intent to substantially address the concerns of the affected Aboriginal parties.

Substantially addressing the concerns means accommodating, and that often leads to compensatory and economic kind of measures, because you can't mitigate impacts to zero.  And so for the remaining burdens or impacts that are left, you have to do something to at least offset them, if not improve the situation for the affected First Nations, and that leads to revenue sharing, or equity that leads to revenue, or business contracting priority opportunities, or employment priority opportunities, or all of the above.

Those economic measures are a key part of the agreement with NextBridge, as they would be with anybody else.  Of course they are, yes.  They are part of the participation that the Minister of Energy required of this process, but they are also forms of accommodation which are constitution-required.  And because of the overlap with the duty to consult and to accommodate which HONI has been delegated, they are foreclosed from engaging with us fully on the accommodation that leads into economic participation, because we are not going to compete with ourselves.  Nobody would, and of course we agreed to that, the same way we agreed with HONI and GLPD that we would not do that.

So that's what that means.  Absolutely we can engage in consultation measures, but where we reach a lid on that where we can't engage in consultation about or provision of economic accommodation, that there is a cap on what we can consult about, and we've informed HONI of that repeatedly.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you very much.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, could I just follow-up with Ms. Kempton and ask -- you've referred to the exclusivity agreement.  Are you prepared to file a copy of the exclusivity agreement in this proceeding?

MS. KEMPTON:  It's part of the implementation agreement, which is confidential.  I would -- because we are in an agreement with NextBridge, I would have to seek their permission to profile that provision and only that provision.

I've just explained to you what it says, and so I can't answer that because I would have to get the consent of NextBridge to file that clause and only that clause.

We are obviously not going to file the entire implementation agreement.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can you -- in this process, from time to time, we ask parties for undertakings if they will provide something.

Can I ask you for this undertaking:  Will you undertake to file the exclusivity portions of the agreement which the chiefs have with NextBridge?

MS. KEMPTON:  I will undertake to seek NextBridge's consent to do so.  And if I get NextBridge's consent, then I will undertake to file just that clause.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  That will be TC, as in technical conference, K1.1.  Does that work for you?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  I think it is JT1.1.

MS. LEA:  It's a J?  Okay.  We should have talked about this before.  What is the full...

MS. CRNOJACKI:  This will be undertaking JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  BAMKUSHWADA TO FILE THE EXCLUSIVITY PORTIONS OF THE AGREEMENT WHICH THE CHIEFS HAVE WITH NEXTBRIDGE

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  We have one more question just to wrap up our questions for the BLP.

You've already described in your affidavits and you spoke today to significant costs and losses on the five First Nations and their members of businesses, if a one year delay in the service date will take place.

Can you please expand on the effect on your community if the 2020 project in-service date is delayed?

I assume it has to do with some of the opportunities that you've gained through your agreements regarding accommodation, economic measures, and so on with NextBridge.

CHIEF COLLINS:  Maybe just to clarify your question again.  I'm having a hard time hearing.  There is a little fan in the background.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  I'm sorry.  Better now?

CHIEF COLLINS:  Some kind of fan in the back going on.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Should I restate the question?

CHIEF COLLINS:  Yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  The affidavit of Chief Collins and of the panel, the BLP panel today, stated that a one year delay of the in-service date will impose significant costs and losses on the five First Nations and their members and businesses.

Can you please expand on the effect on your community if the 2020 project in-service date is delayed?

CHIEF COLLINS:  I can help out with that question, I guess.  What I'll -- how I'll explain is as we have in our community right now, we have about ten different companies that are starting to purchase equipment and get ready for the job.  But also we have 250 students, or 250-plus students also preparing to take on the workforce on this project.

Here's the personal impact of that.  We have young people that their lives were going this way.  With this opportunity now, it's going this way in anticipation of being on the ground working in 2018.

So that in-service date is critical for our community, not only for our members, but for our contractors that we have.  We have put a lot of time and a lot of effort to get to where we are today.  All six of our partnering communities have taken away our leadership roles at our community to make sure this project is getting off the ground, and we get exactly what we're looking for.

If you look at how the structure is, I mean, this is not a simple thing and it's not a simple process that we've been involved with.  We walked away from the process a few times because we were not getting what we wanted.

We got to where we are, where we want.  We spent a lot of our resources, a lot of our time, a lot of our energy and one of the things people don't understand, I'm not just a president of this board, I am not just the chief of my community.  I am everything from A to Z in our community.  We have so many responsibilities.  I mean, this is one, but there's so many different impacts in our community that we deal with day in and day out.

You know, creating jobs is an opportunity and creating a future for families.  And Chief Johanna said this yesterday.  We are not just impacting 350; we could be impacting 1,500 people, depending on the size of your family.  If you have a family of five, then times that by 300 and you have 1,500 people that you are impacting.

So that's what the impacts will be.  Hopefully, I've answered your question.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.

CHIEF DESMOULIN:  I'd like to add again and I want to make reference to -- years ago when we came here to try to get on board to be a partner with -- I think it was Ontario Hydro.  I keep saying Hydro One, but HONI.  You know, should that have taken place, I think it was about a month ago, you can check it if you will, Chronicle Journal Thunder Bay, there is front page and it's at Lakehead University and it said they found a deceased body in the university fields.

You know, that deceased body belonged to a 30-year old band member belonging to our community.  And his birthday, it was in April, anyway, April 4th, someplace around there, and his birthday was going to be April 24th, and he was going to be 31, and to me, you know, you talk about the impacts.  That's an impact, because he was just getting started, finding his way in life.

Again, you take a look at First Nations, or the history of where we come from.  We're still in that history.  We are still getting out.  We're still, you know, asserting, and I think doing a mighty fine job, considering, but with him, he didn't make it.

I heard stories, you know, he was -- every day he was in class.  He had good attendance, but he still had that trauma, intergeneral (sic) trauma, if you will.  I have to say it like it is, and he didn't make it because of his addiction.  He died.

So to me, impact, that's a big impact, and I think, you know, if that took place a long time ago or if we had more of those kind of opportunities a long time ago or some of the tragedies that we experience as a people would not occur.  They would be lessened, if you will.

Like, I'm not going to say I'm blaming it on that, but I want to say that is one of the impacts I feel personally as a mother, a grandmother, you know, and as a leader in my community, so with that, there is impacts, because I have a young boy, just got his grade 12 through SuperCom, and now he's in the carpenter course, and, you know, should this be delayed another year, where does he go?  What does he do?  Because he's looking forward to starting work as soon as he gets his certificate of carpenter, so impacts, lots.

CHIEF MICHANO:  Yeah, I'd like to add a bit to that also.  The level of participation by our people and in particular our young people, actually the whole range, but in particular young people, is unprecedented.  I've never seen anything like this.  There is so much excitement.  People going out to get their education, going out to get training, and what expectation that they are going to start work.  That's what the excitement is about.

SuperCom has done a marvelous, marvelous job, and have, like, spended a lot of dollars and a lot of time and a lot of effort to get that buy-in from our young people.  And to delay, we may lose that momentum, and those young people fall back to where they were before.

So I think we have to keep that momentum going and keep that excitement and that I guess thought in those young people's minds that they are going somewhere, they are doing something, they are doing something useful with their lives.

On the economic development side of things, there's people starting to buy equipment, and these are not big companies.  They can't afford to wait and pay payments.  They've got to put that machinery to work.  They're buying these things, going to the banks with the expectation that that machinery is going to go to work this fall.

They've got to wait another year, what happens?  How are they going to pay for those things?  They send it back to the dealer and they may never get it again.

So I guess, in regards to startup companies, it is imperative that we keep the schedule going, because that's how they've planned buying that equipment and making those agreements with and partnerships with other companies.

CHIEF COLLINS:  Thank you.  Again, I just have to add --


MS. LEA:  Is your microphone on, sir?

CHIEF COLLINS:  I was going to add a final comment.  I had the opportunity of visiting the classrooms before leaving Thunder Bay, and I got to visit three different classrooms in the college, and the great attendance that we see, and we see the great excitement, but even when we had the opportunity to meet with them, are we really going to work in November?  You know, the questions -- and I see that excitement in them.

And I use this one story, my nephew is one of them, and his life -- again, his life was going that way, and now I see the commitment, and I realize that he's strong, he's focused on where he wants to go and what he wants to achieve and what he wants to change his life to be, because I didn't think he would make it, but he is making it.  He is still there today.  He was there at the beginning, and I seen him walking to school every day.  Once in a while I give him a ride.

But those are the kind of impacts.  When you are talking about the impacts and how they are going to impact our communities, well, if they don't have that opportunity -- one of the things that we say as Chiefs, you know what those folks are going to tell us?  You guys are liars.  We'll never listen to you again if we're not working in November.  So that is an impact on our political, you know, groups here, and we have a lot of work and a lot of effort that we put forward to making this time.  Meegwetch.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you, these are all our questions for BLP.

MS. LEA:  Well, I would like to you very much for coming down, making the time, taking the effort to come down.  We really appreciate it.  And I think that completes the questioning that we need from you this morning.  Thank you so very much.

CHIEF COLLINS:  Thank you for having us.

MS. LEA:  And I think that the NextBridge panel is now going to move into the witness box.  Thank you.  We'll take a few minutes to do the exchange of panels.

Thank you very much.  Could we have the introduction of the next witnesses, please?

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  The members of the panel, starting from the left, the person closest to the room, we have Chris Russo.  Chris Russo is the head of Charles River Associates energy practice. His CV can be found at attachment G to the NextBridge evidence.

Next to Mr. Russo is Robert Nickerson.  Mr. Nickerson is a consultant and transmission structure design and testing.  His CV can be found at attachment C.

Next we have Dan Mayers.  His CV is attached to the May 15 letter that NextBridge submitted, and Mr. Mayers is director of transmission, engineering and construction  NextEra.

Next we have Alyson Beal.  Her CV is also attached to the May 15 letter.  Ms. Beal is a consultant and will speak to and will speak to environmental process, and she's with Golder Associates.

Next we have Andrew Pietrewicz.  His CV is found at attachment I.  Mr. Pietrewicz is a consultant with experience in integrated power system planning.

And finally we have Rich Bolbrock.  His CV is found at attachment E.  Mr. Bolbrock is a consultant in power system planning.
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MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Warren?
Questions by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  -- the only person on the panel who can answer these questions, so we'll do our best between us.

Mr. Mayer, I assume you are many are familiar with the designation decision of the Energy Board in 2013?

MR. MAYER:  I am.

MR. WARREN:  Do you have a copy of that decision in front of you?

MR. MAYER:  Not directly in front of me, but I can get a copy of it.

MR. WARREN:  I think it would be helpful if you had a copy of it in front of you, Mr. Mayer.

MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Warren, do you know whether it's on the record somewhere?

MR. WARREN:  I don't know that it is on the record.  I don't believe that it needs to be.

MS. LEA:  I don't think it is on the record of this proceeding.  It can be accessed through the OEB website of course, but that may take a little bit of time.

If we are satisfied with having a hard copy before the witness, that might be the fastest way to proceed.

MR. WARREN:  On the question of whether or not it is on the record, it is a decision of the Ontario Energy Board and I assume would form part of any record...

MS. LEA:  Yes, it is easily accessible through the website.  It may just not be on the record of this particular proceeding.

MR. STEVENS:  It looks like it's been found.  I was asking the question simply because it might help Ms. Allman pull it up on the screen.

MR. WARREN:  August 7th, 2013 is the decision in EB-2011-0140.  Do you have it now, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  I have what I believe to be the  full documentation.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Mayers, could I ask you to turn to page 31 of the decision, please?

MR. MAYERS:  Of what?

MR. WARREN:  Page 31 of the decision.  On page 31, the Board says, and I quote:
"In evaluating the applications in the area of..."

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, I'm not there yet.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry.

MR. MAYERS:  Go ahead.

MR. WARREN:  On page 31, the Board says, and I quote:
"In evaluating the applications in the area of cost, the Board ranked applicants by considering following factors."

The first heading is "Development cost", and then I'm going to take you down to the second heading, the heading "Construction cost", and there are four bullet points and they are, first, "Clarity and completeness of the cost estimate", secondly "Thoroughness of the risk assessment and mitigation strategy."

Thirdly, "Any proposal for allocation of the construction cost risk which could benefit ratepayers."

And fourthly, "Past cost performance for similar projects."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, you have.

MR. WARREN:  Now, am I correct that NextBridge was successful in the designation proceeding in part because of it's estimate of the construction cost?  Is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  That's one of the factors.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell, for the record in this case, what was the cost estimate of NextBridge in the designation proceeding?

MR. MAYERS:  I believe, subject to check, it was approximately $422 million.

MR. WARREN:  And that estimate was based on what, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  That was based on the OEB's reference route.

MR. WARREN:  Did you get a construction company, for example, to provide you with an estimate of the cost?  How did you arrive at that number?

MR. MAYERS:  We had a number of support mechanisms to arrive at our cost, including construction personnel, as well as our internal resources and the experienced staff of both NextBridge -- or both NextEra Energy and Enbridge.

MR. WARREN:  I assuming, Mr. Mayers, that there was a risk assessment and mitigation strategy that was built into that estimate of $422 million.  Is that fair?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, there was.

MR. WARREN:  Following the awarding of the  Designation decision for the periods 2014, 2015, 2016, NextBridge continuously monitor it's estimate of the construction cost?

MR. MAYERS:  I think we spoke to this in the hearing last week on a number of occasions, where we stated that we had submitted our estimate and that we did not do a complete re-estimate of this project until 2017.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize in advance, Mr. Mayers.  That proceeding last week was for your leave to construct application.  This is a different proceeding, so I'm not certain of the extent to which questions asked and answered last week apply today.  So there may be some duplication, for which I apologize in advance.

In your answer, you said you did not -- well, there was a modifier.  Did you monitor the construction cost in any respect?

MR. MAYERS:  Well, of course.  I believe, again as Ms. Tidmarsh mentioned, there were development costs that were ongoing.  Those were being captured in monthly reports, quarterly reports that were being sent to the Ontario Energy Board.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, that wasn't the question I asked, Mr. Mayers.  The question was: Did NextBridge, for the period following the designation decision, did it monitor construction costs at all?

MR. MAYERS:  No.  How would it have monitored construction costs at that point?  We were under the development phase of this project.

MR. WARREN:  There was in the -- as you've already answered, in your construction cost estimate, a risk assessment.  What would the risk assessment have consisted of?

MR. MAYERS:  All the risks that were unforeseen at the time of designation.  We were very clear in our designation.  We had a risk matrix that basically laid out all of the items that could potentially not only create schedule problems, but could potentially affect the cost estimate going forward.

MR. WARREN:  Did you, over the course of the period following the designation decision, use that risk matrix to assess changes in construction cost?

MR. MAYERS:  We actually continuously looked through the risk matrix.  All of those items on there are items that we'd eventually like to check off the box.  We basically would like to be able to say that we have covered everything in our construction cost estimate, so it is an ongoing thing, and as you continue to review the risks, as you get more and more diligence completed on the project, you're able to go ahead and take some of those risks and modify the cost associated with that risk and make a determination of how it's going to impact ultimately the final construction cost.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize, Mr. Mayers, but I detect in the last sequence of answers what appears to me to be a contradiction, and help me if I'm right or wrong about that.

I thought you said that in the period following the designation decision you did not monitor changes or you did not monitor construction cost, and yet you've just told me that you continuously used your risk matrix to assess, among other things, the impact of changes on your construction costs.  Which is it, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  Let me clarify.  The original comment that I believed you were making was related to the overall cost estimate.  We did not revise our overall cost estimate, but as we continued to provide -- to obtain a level of diligence, we were able to reduce the items on our risk matrix.

MR. WARREN:  In doing so, were there internal reports within NextBridge about the risk assessment?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And those reports were prepared by whom for whom?

MR. MAYERS:  The reports would have been part of the lead team that has been constantly monitoring the project month to month.

MR. WARREN:  Can I ask for an undertaking for you to provide those reports for the period from 2013 to 2017?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, it may be an overlap from what was requested last week, but we'll look at it.

MS. LEA:  So JT1.2.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  NEXTBRIDGE TO PROVIDE RISK ASSESSMENT REPORTS FOR THE PERIOD FROM 2013 TO 2017.

MR. STEVENS:  I would just like to add a caveat to any of the undertakings as they come in, that we all recognize we are under a tight time frame.  We will do everything we can to provide the information in a useful time ahead of the motion next week, but without having started the activity of answering any of these answers, I can't give a firm undertaking today that any or all of them will, in fact, be able to be prepared in time.

MR. WARREN:  Just to make certain that you and I are on the same page on this, Mr. Mayers, the undertaking I asked for was for you to produce the internal reports that were prepared that -- using the risk assessment to assess, among other things, construction costs.  Your answer was you would look at it.  I'm asking for you to produce it.  Do we understand one another?  You will produce those reports, subject to the caveat that Mr. Stevens has given us?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, subject to what counsel just stated, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Last week I asked Ms. Tidmarsh for an undertaking, and again, because of the uncertainty about what applies to what, I'm going to ask for this undertaking:  As I understood what Ms. Tidmarsh told us last week, that you were required to provide the Ontario Energy Board first monthly and then quarterly with updates on various matters that were required by the Board, and Ms. Tidmarsh said that prior to each of those reports that there were reports internally made to the board of directors.

Do you recall that exchange that I had with Ms. Tidmarsh?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And I asked her for an undertaking to provide us with copies of the reports that were provided to the board of directors that formed the basis of the reports that were made to the Energy Board.  Would you give that same undertaking, please?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Am I right in assuming --


MS. LEA:  We should probably get a number for that as well.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT1.3.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

[Reporter appeals]


MS. CRNOJACKI:  I'm sorry, my mic was not on.  JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  NEXTBRIDGE TO PROVIDE COPIES OF THE REPORTS THAT WERE PROVIDED TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS THAT FORMED THE BASIS OF THE REPORTS THAT WERE MADE TO THE ENERGY BOARD.

MR. WARREN:  Am I right in assuming, Mr. Mayers, that NextBridge intended to construct the line and intended to construct the line from the time it filed its application in the designation process?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, when was a construction company or companies engaged to develop proposals for the construction of the lines?  When did that process take place?

MR. MAYERS:  Subject to check, in early '17 we went out for -- again, subject to check on the dates, but we went out for an expression of interest, which led to a list of contractors, which eventually went into a bid and an RFP, an evaluation, that then led to the signing of the contract that we currently have with Valard in December of 2017.

MR. WARREN:  So you didn't go out to seek -- am I right in understanding the question that it wasn't until sometime in December of 2017 that you sought bids from -- whether formally or otherwise -- from construction companies; is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  No, that's not correct.  What I said was we signed the contract in December of '17.

MR. WARREN:  My apologies.  Let me get back to the original question then.  When was it that NextBridge first engaged in discussions with construction companies with respect to constructing the line?  It was in -- sometime in 2017, or was it earlier than that?

MR. MAYERS:  It was definitely -- it was in 2017.  It may have been towards the latter part of '16 where we did the expression of interest, but the majority of time spent in the bidding, in the evaluation, and the actual award was in 2017.

MR. WARREN:  When did NextBridge first become aware that the construction cost was -- would exceed the estimated construction cost in the designation process?  When did you first become aware of that?

MR. MAYERS:  Once we received the bids.

MR. WARREN:  And that would have been when?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't recall the exact dates, but it was somewhere around the first or second quarter of 2017.

MR. WARREN:  And your evidence is that you were unaware until the first or second quarter of 2017 that the construction cost estimate would exceed, materially, the cost that you had estimated in the designation process; is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  In -- yeah, roundabout time frame, yes.  We got our cost estimates in, we began evaluating those cost estimates, and when we actually reviewed the three bids that we determined to be acceptable, a determination was made that there was going to be some negotiating with one contractor, and that negotiation lasted for quite some time until we got to the December '17 actual award date.

MR. WARREN:  My recollection of what Ms. Tidmarsh told us last week, or whenever it was, was that the discussions that NextBridge had had with Parks Canada resulted in a firm decision in January of 2015 that NextBridge was not going to be able to use the park portion of its route; is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't recall the conversation.

MR. WARREN:  With Ms. Tidmarsh?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't recall the dates.

MR. WARREN:  Will you take it subject to check that Ms. Tidmarsh told me that it was finally in January of 2015 that NextBridge knew definitively that it was not going to be able to use the park route?

MR. MAYERS:  Subject to check.

MR. WARREN:  So when you were not able to use the park route, one of the practical effects was that the NextBridge route was going to have to be longer by some 43 kilometres; is that right?

MR. MAYERS:  We didn't know at that time exactly where the route was going to take us.  We knew that it went right around the outer boundary of the park.  You might have had a shorter distance, but then alternative routes had to be evaluated.

MR. WARREN:  When were those alternative routes evaluated?

MR. MAYERS:  Well, we would have started probably sometime thereafter.  I think we originally looked at alternative routes when we were working on the designation.  So this was -- you know, we had to go back to plan B, and we began seriously looking at it then, subject to check on the date that you mentioned.  It would have been in that first quarter of 2015.

MR. WARREN:  And going to an alternative route that was longer was going to increase the construction cost; is that not fair, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  Potentially.  We had no idea what it would to cost to have to go through the park, based on the potential environmental impacts, based on whether the park was going to have to charge us some significant fee or otherwise.

So it wasn't -- just because you have a longer route doesn't necessarily mean it's more expensive.

MR. WARREN:  When did you first become aware, Mr. Mayers, that the alternate route around the park was going to cost more money in construction?  When did you first become aware of that?

MR. MAYERS:  When we received the bids in 2017.

MR. WARREN:  Two years later it took you to find out that it was going to cost more to go around the park. Is that correct, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  As I said, we had not bid the project out up to that point, so it was impossible for us to make a determination.  You seem to speculate that just because there is a longer route, that it could be more expensive.  And that is not always the case.

MR. WARREN:  Did you report in January of 2015 -- did the staff of NextBridge report to the board of directors about the decision of Parks Canada, and the fact that a longer or alternative route would have to be found?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't know the answer to that.

MR. WARREN:  Can you undertake to find out whether you did and, if so, to provide a copy of the report to the board of directors on that point?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be -- someone is meddling with my mic.  It would be JT1.4, NextBridge to provide copies of a report to its board of directors regarding the cost.

MR. WARREN:  Regarding the impact --


MS. CRNOJACKI:  The impact.

MR. WARREN:  -- of the decision that they could not use the park route.

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, maybe I misheard the exchange before.  I thought the undertaking had been to provide a copy of any reporting to OEB staff of the determination to use a route that did not go through the park.

MR. WARREN:  No.  I was quite clear, Mr. Stevens, in asking the witness whether or not, at the time or thereafter when the decision was taken by Parks Canada that they couldn't go through the -- if a report was done by NextBridge staff to NextBridge's board of directors with respect to the fact that they couldn't go through the park and would have to find alternate route.

That's the undertaking that I've asked for and that was given.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, understood.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  NEXTBRIDGE TO ADVISE WHETHER A REPORT WAS DONE BY NEXTBRIDGE STAFF TO NEXTBRIDGE'S BOARD OF DIRECTORS WITH RESPECT TO THE FACT THAT THEY COULDN'T GO THROUGH THE PARK, AND WOULD HAVE TO FIND AN ALTERNATE ROUTE; AND TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE REPORT TO THE NEXTBRIDGE BOARD

MS. LEA:  Sometimes, Mr. Warren, sometimes you speak in a very soft-spoken manner, and my aging assets sometimes do not allow me to hear -- and I see other nods in the room, so perhaps it's not just me.  So, thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Is this a contest of aging assets?

MS. LEA:  No, sir, you'll win.  You asked for that.  I'm just asking you if you could please speak into the mic a little bit more loudly.  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  I've never been a accused of being soft-spoken, and I take some umbrage at that.

MS. LEA:  I do apologize, sir.

MR. WARREN:  At some point, and I don't remember the chronology, witness -- you will tell me if you can't hear me, right?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm fortunate enough to be sitting close, so I...

MR. WARREN:  We all find our luck in strange ways, don't we, Mr. Mayers.

Sometime in -- and I'm embarrassed to say I don't remember the exact chronology, a decision was taken by the men Minister of Energy to delay the in-service date for East-West Tie, to delay it from its original date to 2020.

I believe that decision was taken sometime in 2015, 2016.  Do you recall that?

MR. MAYERS:  I recall a decision was made to delay.  It might have been '14 or '15.

MR. WARREN:  Now, that delay, according to the evidence which NextBridge has filed, resulted in an increase in cost, and the number that I recall from the evidence is 57 million.  But we'll leave the number aside, but the delay would result in increased costs.

At the time that the decision was made by the Minister to delay, did NextBridge staff report to its board of directors that the delay was likely to increase costs?


MR. MAYERS:  I am personally not aware of that.

MR. WARREN:  Can you undertake to find out if NextBridge staff reported to its board of directors on the implications, if any, of the delay in the in-service date? And if so, can you provide us with a copy of a report?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be undertaking JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  NEXTBRIDGE TO FIND OUT IF NEXTBRIDGE STAFF REPORTED TO ITS BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON THE IMPLICATIONS, IF ANY, OF THE DELAY IN THE IN-SERVICE DATE; AND IF SO, TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE REPORT

MR. WARREN:  Just before the break, Ms. Lea, I have a couple of questions.

MS. LEA:  Sure.  You choose a good time for you, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  It is a function of aging assets, Ms. Lea, and when they are strained.

MS. LEA:  TMI, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  For each of the Indigenous communities who have intervened in this proceeding -- and that is First Nation communities and the Métis community -- are there exclusivity agreements with each of those entities?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't know.

MR. WARREN:  Can you undertake to advise us if there were exclusivity agreements and, if so, when they were entered into?

MR. STEVENS:  We'll take that under advisement, Mr. Warren.  I understand that some or all of this information may be confidential.  So if we decline to answer the question, we'll advise why.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Mr. Stevens, am I to understand that you may refuse to answer a question about whether there are exclusivity agreements?  Is that right?

MR. STEVENS:  I've indicated that I'm not giving that undertaking right now.  If it turns out that NextBridge is not to answer the question, we'll advise why.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me -- we know from the first panel this morning that there's at least one exclusivity agreement entered in with that community.

Can you tell me, Mr. Mayers, when the exclusivity agreement with that community was entered into?

MR. MAYERS:  I do not know.

MR. WARREN:  Can you undertake to advise us when that exclusivity agreement was entered into?

MR. STEVENS:  Same answer.  We can combine that with the earlier question that was taken under advisement.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So two undertakings so far combined.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  These two combined undertakings will be numbered JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  NEXTBRIDGE TO ADVISE  (A) WHETHER EXCLUSIVITY AGREEMENTS WERE ENTERED INTO; AND IF IT REFUSES TO ANSWER, TO SAY WHY; (B) TO ADVISE WHEN EXCLUSIVITY AGREEMENTS WERE ENTERED INTO

MR. WARREN:  I think that is, if it's appropriate, a useful time to take a break.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Let's break, and that clock reads a minute before ten to 11:00.

Let's meet at five past 11, according to that.  Sixteen minutes from now.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:51 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:06 a.m.

MS. LEA:  Thanks very much.  We'll reconvene, please.

Mr. Warren.

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, sorry, just before we get into the questions, I think there was just one date that Mr. Mayers was going to speak to that came up in the prior questions.

MR. MAYERS:  Parks Canada.  Yeah, the decision by Parks Canada to deny NextBridge use of the park was in June of 2015.

 MR. WARREN:  Just returning briefly, Mr. Mayers, to an earlier topic.  I was asking you about the bid process for the construction.  You indicated there was an RFP.  Would you undertake to produce a copy of the RFP and any amendments to it?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, could you say it again?

MR. STEVENS:  NextBridge is prepared to provide the same undertaking that was provided within the leave to construct application, whereby the full materials are considered confidential and are not available for filing -- or for provision to competing parties within that proceeding or within this proceeding.

 MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, the RFP won't be produced?  That's a private document?  Have I understood that correctly?

MR. STEVENS:  There are aspects of the document that are commercially-sensitive and confidential.  And it was on that basis that a redacted version was produced within the NextBridge leave to construct proceeding.

 MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can I ask you:  We are going to return to the designation --


MS. LEA:  Could I have a moment, please.  Do we have an undertaking to have the redacted version?  Do you want that version here?

 MR. WARREN:  Yes, please.

MS. LEA:  Is that acceptable, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  Yeah, it may well be done just simply by a reference to adopting in the answer from the other proceeding into this proceeding.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can jump in --


MS. LEA:  Oh, I beg pardon.  Mr. --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- clarify, are you providing the RFP, the redacted version only, or the full version, providing a redacted version on the public record but a confidential version to, I guess what you just said, non-competitors?

MR. STEVENS:  For the purpose of this proceeding I propose to provide only a redacted version so that we don't have to get into issues of confidentiality.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  So that will be an Undertaking JT1.7, NextBridge to provide the RFP redacted version.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  NEXTBRIDGE TO PROVIDE THE RFP REDACTED VERSION.

 MR. WARREN:  Mr. Mayers, can I ask you to turn up again the designation decision.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

 MR. WARREN:  I'd ask you to go to page 4.  Do you have it?

MR. MAYERS:  I can't find it in this document here, so I'm waiting for the screen.  Okay, I have it.

 MR. WARREN:  I have different paginations on my Phase 2 decision and order.  Could we go to page 5 and see if it's on there?  There.  There it is.  On the top of that page on the screen, I quote:

"Designation does not carry with it an exclusive right to build the line or an exclusive right to apply for leave to construct the line.  A transmitter may apply for leave to construct the East-West Tie line, designated or not."

Have I read that correctly, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  You have.

 MR. WARREN:  And would you agree with me that the Board was contemplating there that the construction of the -- actual construction of the line might be subject to a competitive process, the logic of that statement?

MR. MAYERS:  Potentially.

 MR. WARREN:  And would you agree with me that if your motion is granted, that competition to construct the line will be eliminated?

MR. MAYERS:  By your question, yes.

 MR. WARREN:  Now, the successful bidder that was required, according to the OEB, to consult with First Nations and Métis and reach agreements with them, and as I understand it, seeing as far as I can through the invisibility cloak, NextBridge has executed exclusivity agreements with at least one First Nation group; correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Based on the discussion earlier this morning.

 MR. WARREN:  And would I be right, Mr. Mayers, in concluding that the effect of the exclusivity agreement is to make competition difficult, if not impossible; is that not fair?

MR. MAYERS:  No.

 MR. WARREN:  If Hydro One Networks can't even talk to a First Nations group, how can they consult, as is required, in order to be competitive in the process?  How can they do that, Mr. --


MR. MAYERS:  Mr. Warren, that is not what we heard from Ms. Kempton this morning.  She very clearly pointed -- she pointed to a letter attached to, I believe, Chief Collins's affidavit, and very clearly delineated the difference between consultation and participation.

 MR. WARREN:  Let's parse it according to what Mr. Stevens has just said.

The First Nations -- let's take it as a given that Hydro One Networks can consult with them, although the witness panel this morning said that they were not prepared to talk to Hydro One, but we'll leave that aside.

Certainly the exclusivity agreements are intended and have the effect of precluding Hydro One from reaching accommodation or participation arrangements with at least one First Nation group, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't agree that's true.

 MR. WARREN:  Sorry, that's what Ms. Kempton said.  Were you here when she gave that statement, that the exclusivity agreement with her client precluded Hydro One from reaching participation and accommodation agreements with that group?

MR. MAYERS:  I did hear that statement, yes.

 MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Do you agree -- do you have any reason to challenge it?  Since we can't see the exclusivity agreements, do you have any reason to challenge that?

MR. MAYERS:  No.

 MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, let's get back to the question I asked, having gone through the parsing exercise that Mr. Stevens required.  Is it not the case that precluding Hydro One Networks from being able to reach participation and accommodation agreements with First Nations has the effect of making competition for the construction of the line very much more difficult; do you agree with that?

MR. MAYERS:  It might, but I'm not an expert on the agreements that have been put in place, nor am I responsible for being a party to those agreements, so I don't know the answer to that.

 MR. WARREN:  Sorry, we'll get back to it, Mr. Mayers.  I thought you agreed with what Ms. Kempton said, that Hydro One Networks is precluded from entering into accommodation or participation agreements with First Nations; we have agreed on that, Mr. Mayers.  My question to you is:  If that's the case, does that not make Hydro One Networks or indeed any other constructor's ability to compete for constructing the line much more difficult?

MR. MAYERS:  It might.

 MR. WARREN:  Certainly would make it difficult to meet the time line which has been set out for 2020; is that not fair?

MR. MAYERS:  Our time line is 2020.  Hydro One's is 2021.

 MR. WARREN:  Now, one of the witnesses this morning, I believe it was Chief Collins, spoke about the training exercises that have been engaged in and that there are contractors that are purchasing equipment.  First of all, have you guaranteed Chief Collins's group that there will be employment for 300 people as of November of 2018?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't know the answer to that.

 MR. WARREN:  Would you undertake to provide us with an answer whether or not there is a written guarantee to Chief Collins as to -- sorry, to his organization, not him personally, guaranteeing 300 jobs effective November, I think he said, of 2018?  Would you undertake to provide us?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we're prepared --

MR. WARREN:  Would you tell me --

MS. LEA:  Are we having some trouble with the mics?  Certainly people seem to be.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  I'm on.  That would be undertaking JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  NEXTBRIDGE TO ADVISE WHETHER OR NOT THERE IS A WRITTEN GUARANTEE TO CHIEF COLLINS' ORGANIZATION GUARANTEEING 300 JOBS EFFECTIVE NOVEMBER 2018


 MR. WARREN:  Can you advise us, Mr. Mayers, whether or not the agreement that you have with Chief Collins' organization, whether it contains any qualifications?

For example, is it subject to the qualification that NextBridge has to get section 92 approval?  Is it subject to that qualification?

MR. STEVENS:  Again, as with the questions about the exclusivity provisions in that agreement, we're not prepared to provide an undertaking to share any details of the contract at this point.

We will take under advisement and determine whether that's something that NextBridge is able and prepared to provide.

 MR. WARREN:  Can you advise --

MS. LEA:  Mr. Warren, I can't hear you.

 MR. WARREN:  Can you advise us, Mr. Mayers, whether or not NextBridge has concluded equity agreements with any of the intervening Indigenous community groups?

MR. STEVENS:  I have the same response to this question as I've had to previous questions about details of the existence, dates, and exclusivity provisions in any agreements with any other First Nations or Métis groups.

 MR. WARREN:  Mr. Stevens, I'm just asking whether or not they have reached equity agreements.  I haven't asked about dates, the details; I haven't asked that they be produced. I simply want to know whether or not they have reached any equity agreements with any of the intervening Indigenous communities.

Will you allow the witness to answer the question, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  Again, we will consult to find out if these things are confidential.  If not, then we will provide the requested details.

MS. LEA:  So just to be sure that we make a note of that then, perhaps we should give that an undertaking number to make that inquiry please, and indicate the result of that inquiry.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT1.9.

MS. LEA:  That's regarding equity agreements.  Thank you.  Pardon me, Mr. Warren.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  TO ADVISE WHETHER NEXTBRIDGE HAS REACHED ANY EQUITY AGREEMENTS WITH ANY OF THE INTERVENING INDIGENOUS COMMUNITIES, IF NOT CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

 MR. WARREN:  A report, as I understand it, Mr. Mayers, and correct me if I'm wrong, a report was prepared for the NextBridge board.

First of all, I apologize for not knowing the answer to this question, but you can help me.  NextBridge is a separate corporate entity, is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm not a capital structure expert.

 MR. WARREN:  My question was going to be:  A report was prepared for the NextBridge board, as I understand it, in April of 2017 that recommended that a leave to construct application be filed.  Are you aware of that?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Can we get an undertaking to provide a copy of the report that went to the NextBridge board of directors in April of 2017 recommending a leave to construct application?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be undertaking JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  NEXTBRIDGE TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE REPORT THAT WENT TO THE NEXTBRIDGE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN APRIL OF 2017 RECOMMENDING A LEAVE TO CONSTRUCT APPLICATION

 MR. WARREN:  Are you familiar, Mr. Mayers, with the IESO's updated needs report?  That was in the last quarter of 2017.  Are you familiar with it?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm aware that they did a report in December of '17.

 MR. WARREN:  Can I get an undertaking from you, Mr. Mayers, to tell me where in that decision the IESO says that the need to construct the line by 2020 is required, even if it costs an additional 120 to 140 million dollars? You don't have the report in front of you.  You are only broadly familiar with it.  Can I get an undertaking from you to tell me where in the report the IESO says that?

MR. STEVENS:  We are not going to provide that undertaking.  We are getting into areas of interpretation and argument about public documents that are going to be on the record and discussed at the hearing, and I'm sure that to the extent this is relevant and important to the Board, questions like that can be taken up at the hearing.

 MR. WARREN:  I'm not asking for an interpretation. I'm asking you to point out where in the decision it says that.

MR. STEVENS:  We both have a copy of the report, and we'll say about it what we will at the hearing.

 MR. WARREN:  Are you familiar with your -- the notice of motion which you filed in this matter, Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm aware that's the reason we are here today.

 MR. WARREN:  It says that the Hydro One application is incomplete.  Can you tell me, as we sit here today, in what respects NextBridge says the Hydro One application is incomplete?

MR. MAYERS:  Again, this is something that we'll talk about at the hearing.  But I don't think we're in a position to give a full answer until we've completed our discussions with the Hydro One witnesses later in this process.

 MR. WARREN:  So as we sit here today, your witness cannot tell us in what respect the Hydro One application is incomplete.  Is that because he can't tell us, or he won't tell us?

MR. STEVENS:  The NextBridge evidence has been submitted, setting out its views as of that time about what's incomplete.  Subsequently, Hydro One has filed responding evidence.  We are in the course of a two-day technical conference.  At the end of that, we will have a complete view as to what might be incomplete and that will be presented to the Board at the hearing of the motion.

 MR. WARREN:  I take it then, Mr. Stevens, that we can conclude as of today that the Hydro One notice of motion has to be amended because it no longer is accurate.  Is that a fair conclusion, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  It is not a fair conclusion.  Hydro One -- sorry, the NextBridge notice of motion sets out the information that was known at the time that it was filed.

The general thrust of what's in there remains the case, and the nature of the motion will be heard -- or the details of the motion will be heard by the Board next week.

 MR. WARREN:  The NextBridge notice of motion, Mr. Mayers, contains a statement that my client's application that the filing requirements -- it doesn't comply with the filing requirement -- the Ontario Energy Board's filing requirements for section 92 applications.

Can you tell me, as we sit here today, in what respect my client's application does not comply with the OEB's filing requirements?

MR. STEVENS:  Again, I'd refer you to the answers I've just given, Mr. Warren.

 MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  A number of my questions have been asked, so hopefully I will be much shorter.

In the evidence that you've provided, you provide  numerous correspondences between Hydro One and the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change, yourself and the Ministry.

I was wondering if you could provide all copies of all communications between NextBridge and the MOECC, the MOE, the IESO, the MNRF, Parks Canada, Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency, the OEB, or any other federal or provincial government agencies with respect to the east- west tie project or Hydro One's Lake Superior link project?

MR. STEVENS:  Given the time exigencies, I don't think there is really any prospect that we could get together all of those documents that are being requested.

MR. RUBENSTAEINA:  The problem I have is that everybody is filing subsets of documents, and that doesn't provide a clear picture necessarily.  And there may be others, and there may not be others.

So I would ask you to try your best to provide all missing material correspondence.

MR. STEVENS:  So when you say -- you're asking all material correspondence in relation to both of the proposed projects?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, first with respect to Hydro One's project, so any correspondence that you've filed with respect to Hydro One's between those agency, an objection of some sort, or clarification, as well as, let's say, any communications with respect to your East-West Tie project that relates to anything at issue in this motion.

MR. STEVENS:  I find it relatively easy to draw a box around the first part of that.  I am hearing from Mr. Warren's questions that virtually the entirety of NextBridge's proposal for its application is at issue in this application, from Hydro One's perspective.

I am hesitating because I don't want to undertake to give you something, or give any hint that we will be able to accomplish something that is so broad in scope that the time doesn't permit.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let's do the following.  I would ask you on a best-efforts basis to make the undertaking, and you and I off the record can have a discussion about the East-West Tie portion of that undertaking to narrow it.  Is that...

MR. STEVENS:  On that basis we'll make best efforts to identify what seems to be responsive to your question and provide it in time for the motion.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY WHAT IS RESPONSIVE TO A REQUEST TO IDENTIFY ALL COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN NEXTBRIDGE AND THE MOECC, THE MOE, THE IESO, THE MNRF, PARKS CANADA, CANADIAN ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AGENCY, THE OEB, OR ANY OTHER FEDERAL OR PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT AGENCIES WITH RESPECT TO THE EAST-WEST TIE PROJECT OR HYDRO ONE'S LAKE SUPERIOR LINK PROJECT; AND TO PROVIDE THE RESPONSIVE DOCUMENTS

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So NextBridge's project, as I understand it, and again, I will have some repetition of the questions I asked last week, and I apologize for that.  NextBridge's project, as I understand it, has forecast the construction portion to cost roughly 737 million.  Do I have that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Those are the construction costs, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are there -- and we had a discussion at the NextBridge technical conference about the proposed OM&A costs in roughly the $4 million range.  Do I have that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, $3.4 million, I believe.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are there any other capital costs that NextBridge will incur before operation of its lines that are not included in the construction costs that you will need before the line becomes operational that would be included in, say, your first rate application?  So by that I mean trucks, tools, supporting infrastructure and such?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, you are asking if there's additional costs?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, we know the construction costs, so build the line is 737 million.  You've talked about ongoing OM&A costs to operate the line, and I'm trying to understand if there is another bucket of costs that is not included, being non-construction, but other capital costs that you will need to operate the line right away.

So vehicles, tools, supporting infrastructure...

MR. MAYERS:  No, not that I'm aware of.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right.  So all of the supporting infrastructure costs are included in the construction costs?

MR. MAYERS:  When you say "supporting infrastructure", you are talking about the actual -- the employees that NextBridge will have on-site.  That's included in their -- the O&M costs done, you have offices, you have labour costs related to that, you are going to have tools, supplies.  You are going to have the day-to-day operations of an office.  That is included in the O&M costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the -- I just want to be clear.  From a regulatory perspective there is a difference between capital and operating costs from a rate-making perspective; do you under -- I'm assuming you are familiar with that in sort of the broadest sense?

MR. MAYERS:  I am not a regulatory expert, no, but I understand where the costs are in relation to the O&M portion right now, what's expected to go into the 3.4 (sic) that you reference.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, I'm going to ask then you -- by way of undertaking you can confirm this or provide the additional information with that -- with this.  I'm trying to understand if the operating costs that you have forecasted for this project are regulatory OM&A costs, or what sort of in a broad sense we would call the cost to operate the line; and if it is the latter category, to split it out between what would be capital costs and operating costs and OM&A costs from regulatory purposes.  And if there is a third category of costs that are not included in either your application for OM&A and capital, such as what I would call capital costs that you would need to operate the line, you can provide the forecast for the first year it will be in service; are you able to do that?

MR. STEVENS:  We will endeavour to provide an answer to that, yes.

MR. MAYERS:  Just to correct the record, I just realize I said 3.4.  It is actually 4.3.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT1.12 undertaking.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  TO CONFIRM OR PROVIDE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RE:  IF THE OPERATING COSTS THAT YOU HAVE FORECASTED FOR THIS PROJECT ARE REGULATORY OM&A COSTS, OR WHAT SORT OF IN A BROAD SENSE WE WOULD CALL THE COST TO OPERATE THE LINE; AND IF IT IS THE LATTER CATEGORY, TO SPLIT IT OUT BETWEEN WHAT WOULD BE CAPITAL COSTS AND OPERATING COSTS AND OM&A COSTS FROM REGULATORY PURPOSES; AND IF THERE IS A THIRD CATEGORY OF COSTS THAT ARE NOT INCLUDED IN EITHER YOUR APPLICATION FOR OM&A AND CAPITAL, SUCH AS WHAT I WOULD CALL CAPITAL COSTS THAT YOU WOULD NEED TO OPERATE THE LINE, TO PROVIDE THE FORECAST FOR THE FIRST YEAR IT WILL BE IN SERVICE.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct from our discussions in your technical conference for your project, you have a proposed in-service date of December 2020?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is based on getting a leave to construction decision from this Board by the end of July, your schedule is based on that.

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct as well that the project schedule has a one-month contingency built in?

MR. MAYERS:  There is some float, as I mentioned earlier, but there is not a significant amount of float in the schedule.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I don't have the transcript reference, but my understanding from the technical conference was that there was one-month contingency built into your project schedule; am I incorrect about that?

MR. MAYERS:  If it's in the transcript then it may have been Mr. Gill or Mr. Brott who mentioned that, but my understanding is that we have some time in there.  I don't know specifically if it's a full month, but we'll say if subject to check it's a month in the transcript then...

MR. STEVENS:  I believe that that's what's indicated at the bottom of the schedule table that was provided close to the time of the technical conference in the leave to construct proceeding.  It indicates one month.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I don't want to tread on too much ground that Mr. Warren covered, but I do have a couple of questions.

And am I correct that with respect to the quarterly updates that you provided to the Board, the first one that identified the increase from the $397 million construction forecast was the April 30th quarterly update; is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  April 30th of what year?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  2017, sorry.

MR. MAYERS:  I believe that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And from your discussion today, at no point previously did you conduct an updated cost forecast or inform your board of directors of the possibility of an increase; did I understand that?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And was that with respect to a specific number, so you did not have a -- an updated specific capital forecast, but at any point did you update your board of directors of the possibility that there would be some form of increase between the designation date and the April -- or the documents that went before the April 30th quarterly update to this Board?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm not aware of all the reports that were filed.  I'm not aware exactly as to whether or not those are correct statements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as someone who's involved in this project, did you at any point between the designation and the documents that led up to the April 30th, 2017 quarterly report think to yourself that there is a possibility that there may be a material increase in costs?

MR. MAYERS:  There's always a chance for the cost to increase, but specifically, without having the due diligence complete and having the bids in from the construction contractor, it's almost impossible to determine what the market conditions are going to be like and what the cost of the project, the final cost of the project, is going to be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, you, in response to questions from Mr. Warren, you discussed, with respect to the decision of the Parks Canada, that, you know, you didn't know that -- just because the line may be longer doesn't necessarily mean that it may cost more.  Do you recall those discussions?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What about with respect to the decision by the IESO to push out the in-service date by a number of years?  Did you think to yourself at that point: Well, the cost may increase because of that?

MR. MAYERS:  Generally costs don't go down, whether it is commodity pricing, whether it's labour, you tend not to know that -- I mean, you tend not to see -- you tend to see costs increase over time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So do I take that as a yes?

MR. MAYERS:  We clearly understood that you could have some cost increase in the project for sure, and specifically in delays, and I think we've discussed this in the past.  I think we've discussed that there is escalation costs related to this, and general additional consulting costs and everything else that go into the development costs that were presented...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm not talking about the development costs, I'm talking about the construction costs.  Because of the delay did you or any member of the NextBridge team discuss amongst yourself or think amongst yourselves that costs may materially increase because the IESO has pushed out the in-service date of the project?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, we knew that the costs would probably increase.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And at what point in time would that have -- would you have thought amongst yourselves about that increase?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't recall the dates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Roughly.  I mean, obviously I am not asking for a specific date.

MR. MAYERS:  Well, I would imagine that at the time we got notice that there was going to be a delay.  You can, as you stated, you can pretty much determine that there is going to be additional costs related to the project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I'm just -- and from your comment earlier, you were not aware if you then informed your board of directors of that?

MR. MAYERS:  I am not aware, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Now, with respect to your reporting between NextBridge and your board, was NextBridge communicating regularly, not necessarily with the board as -- with the board of the project as an entity itself, but with members of the board or members of the partner organizations about the status of the project?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't know the answer to that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You don't know if there was ongoing discussions?  Did you have ongoing discussions?

MR. MAYERS:  I did not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I read Hydro One -- this is my read of Hydro One's application as essentially their value proposition to the Board is we believe we can do the project more cost effectively; it is cheaper for us to do it than the NextBridge project.  At a high-level, is that how you read their...

MR. MAYERS:  That's their assertion, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I'm assuming you've read their project proposal, correct?  Their leave to construct application?

MR. MAYERS:  I've read parts.  But no, I won't admit to reading the entire document, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we can -- depending what the baseline is, I think they say they can save 100 or 140 million, depending on the route.

If we consider -- if you can give me your view of -- when looking at their application for what you've looked at it, is there reason to believe they can do the project at the amount that they say?

MR. MAYERS:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You can help explain that?

MR. MAYERS:  Sure.  What they have is a conceptual estimate.  They haven't clearly signed on a contractor at this point.  They have SNC Lavalin documents.  I don't know that they actually have a signed EPC agreement; I haven't seen that.

I haven't seen a cost estimate related to this project.  I haven't seen a breakdown of their costs related to this project.

So it is just a number, as far as far as we're concerned right now.  We're not sure if they included a Indigenous relationship.  There has been any -- we know that there is difficulties with some of the conversations that are ongoing, but we are not aware of what their plan is for partnering, and how much that effect is going to have on the overall cost estimate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we simply don't have enough information.

MR. MAYERS:  Sorry, I couldn't hear you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it a matter that you don't have enough information, or you can definitely say, based on their application, that there are some inherent flaws in their costing.  I took what you're saying as the former.

MR. MAYERS:  We don't have enough information.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have a question for you, Mr. Nickerson.  Do you have your memorandum in front of you?

MR. NICKERSON:  I do.

MS. LEA:  I think that -- Mr. Zacher (sic), can you assist by turning that mic on, please?

MR. NICKERSON:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 4 of your report; it may be just a small point.

Under considerations on page 4, you quote from a director of planning of Hydro-Québec.

MR. NICKERSON:  You said I quote from Hydro-Québec?  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Could I ask where is this quote from?  There is no citation, and I'm just not sure what you're...

MR. NICKERSON:  It was an article on the internet.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you provide that article?

MR. NICKERSON:  I'll try to find it, yes, I will.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That is JT1.13:  NextBridge to provide the article where the quote from the memorandum of understanding comes from, or the memorandum comes from.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  NEXTBRIDGE TO PROVIDE THE ARTICLE WHERE THE QUOTE FROM THE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING COMES FROM, OR THE MEMORANDUM COMES FROM

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask a question of you, Mr. Bolbrock, somewhat of a similar question for you.

On page 6 of your memorandum, you quote from NPCC standards that don't favour a quad circuit towers.

MR. BOLBROCK:  Page 6?  I'm sorry, I'm looking for  specifically where you're asking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  First full paragraph.

MR. STEVENS:  You did say Mr. Bolbrock, correct?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, it's right up on the screen.
"NPC standards do not favour quad circuit towers.  In fact, NPCC states that quotation."

Do you see that?

 MR. BOLBROCK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if you could provide the standards, or where exactly you're quoting from here, what standard, what document.

MR. BOLBROCK:  The standards don't specifically say that they don't favour quad circuit towers.  It's based on my many years of experience on NPCC committees and task forces, that –

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, no  Just to be clear, I'm not saying they say that.  You quote in the second sentence:
"If multiple circuit towers are used only for station entrance and exit purposes and if they do not exceed five towers at each station..."

MR. BOLBROCK:  That is directory number 1; tables 1 and 3 would be the applicable tables in NPCC directory 1.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Could you file that on the record?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we will.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  TO PROVIDE COPIES OF THE NPCC STANDARDS REFERRED TO


MS. LEA:  The whole standard, or just the section?  That wasn't clear to me.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, that rough section.  I don't need you to file the entire -- I assume they're lengthy, but more than just that paragraph.

All right.  If I can ask you -- and I apologize in advance on the pronunciation, which has happened before in another proceeding and I apologized -- well, maybe you can say it first and then I will.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Pietrewicz.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I will just mumble something.

Could I ask you about your report?  If I could turn to page 2 of yours, and in the second paragraph you discuss how "the IESO needs assessment is not a plug-and-play study in which a different transmission configurations and in- service date can be substituted without thorough consideration, study and analysis."  Do you see that?

I wonder if could you expand on that, and specifically, how is a needs assessment undertaken?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Sure.  Can you hear me, first of all?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  What I'm trying to get at here is that the IESO's so-called needs assessments, and there are several of them, they consider a couple of things.  They look for -- they look at the requirement for electricity service on a forward-looking basis in north-western Ontario.

So number one, that's what they do.  They identify a need for electricity service.

But that's not all they do.  They then compare options for addressing the need.  And so the options that they compare in particular are -- or rather generally are a transmission option.  In this case, it was an expansion of the existing East-West Tie compared to family of alternatives, if you will, which was more akin to generation-oriented options.

So number one, it looks out and assesses needs for electricity service.  Number two, it compares types of options for addressing those needs.

And the point here about this plug-and-play word is that A, it compared a particular type of transmission option to a family of different types of generation options.  But that's the main point, that the particular type of transmission option had certain characteristics.  It had characteristics around, you know, when would it be in service.  It had characteristics around what would it cost, for example, and that was factored into the comparison of a transmission option compared to the generation options in the so-called needs analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I read your -- and you talk about this on page 3,that you do not recommend the IESO undertaking a new needs assessment.

Let me ask you just as a practical question.  If the Board disagrees with your analysis and asks the IESO to conduct a new needs assessment based on Hydro One's project proposal, what is the timeframe, roughly, for them to do that?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Sure, thank you.  And for clarity, I think the portion of the needs assessment that I don't think would shed new information is the nature of the need for electricity to be supplied in the northwest.

I think the last one was filled in late December of last year and sure, things change all the time in terms of demand outlooks and supply outlooks.  For example, new mines may come into service, or proceed a little further along their development timeframe, whereas others will fall off that development timeframe.

There will always be pluses and minuses.  However, I don't think that the inherent nature of the need would change that dramatically.  So, that is -- on that point.

In terms of the length of time, I would certainly defer to the IESO on this one.  I don't think it's an overnight kind of analysis.  I think it would take some time, and because I suspect -- again, I don't want to put words in their mouth, but I suspect it would involve taking data to update assumptions, such as the outlook for supply and demand, taking data to consider the particular transmission alternative being considered, including the costs of it, including the in-service.

So data collection, I would imagine, would be one of the steps involved.

Two, another step involved, I imagine, would be conducting the analysis itself.  And I don't want to speak for the IESO in terms of how long they can turn that around.

C), I think preparing the documentation and getting -- and (d), getting that sort of checked and approved and quality-checked within the IESO along the way.

Does that answer your question?  You are looking -- squinting your eyes.  I'm not sure if you're --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you said it may not take a day.  I don't work at the IESO.  You have had a long history with --


MR. PIETREWICZ:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- the IESO.  So you would have a better sense, just practically speaking --


MR. PIETREWICZ:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- what are we talking about --


MR. PIETREWICZ:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- here, a week, a month?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  I can speak to my previous history --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  -- maybe things have changed a lot since then, but in my history at the IESO -- and I worked there for about 16 years doing this sort of thing, and I think it would take in the ballpark of a month or two, depending on how complex the analysis was, depending on what kind of alternatives we are studying, if we were studying more than one alternative.  So again, it's a big caveat, but I think it's in the order of months rather than days or weeks.  The IESO may have different views.  This has been my experience.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you back to page 2.  You summarize on page 2 the findings of the needs assessment.  You said there's a number of bullet points.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can take you to the third one.  I just want to confirm this with you.

So I read this, and you have a better sense of how to read the needs assessment report than I do with your background.  I take it that the capacity need in 2020 is 240 megawatts.  Am I correct?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Yes, that's correct, that's what it says here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And by 2022 that will -- the capacity needs will exceed 260 megawatts.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Yes, again, that's what it says, and this is an excerpt from the IESO study.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the difference of, say, a December in-service date in the NextBridge proposal and an in-service date at some point in 2022, let's say, is a difference in -- the increase of capacity need will have grown by 20 megawatts?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  I agree with your arithmetic and I agree with your point, but there is an additional difference, which is, there would be a risk for a capacity deficit in the year 2020 that would remain unaddressed by a transmission expansion, so what you're saying is that if a transmission line came in-service in 2021 instead of 2020
-- yes?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, 2020 I'd say, but, sure.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  A, the need might grow in general by a couple of megawatts, but B, the need originally identified or estimated or anticipated for 2020 would be unaddressed by a transmission facility and would therefore need to be addressed some other way.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it would need to be addressed before 2021, correct, before the in-service date of the NextBridge project.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Potentially, yes, indeed, indeed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So all we're doing by potentially moving the in-service date by one or two years, I take it, is two things:  One is the capacity shortfall will have increased by 20 megawatts, correct?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the second is a sort of inherent risk to the system will have been pushed off by one further year?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  That's right, we would be exposing northwestern Ontario to one additional year of supply-adequacy-related risk.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, the fact that the IESO pushed out the needs for the project already to 2020, and there is already a 200-megawatt capacity shortfall, what does that tell us then about the real risk of pushing it out a little bit more?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  It's a great question.  Maybe I can shed some context on that.  First of all, let me describe the nature of the risk as I see it and to, I think, try to shed some light on the crux of your question.

I am here to speak about resource-related risk.  I am not a transmission planning expert.  That's -- the brainy folks do that.  I'm a resources person.  And on the resource side, the northwest is a very particular type of system, insofar as the overwhelming majority of the supply located in northwestern Ontario is hydroelectric, so that's the first idea that I want to convey.  It is hydroelectric.  And for the most part it has a relatively limited connection to the rest of the province throughout the existing East-West Tie.

So number one, the water power up there represents a large share of the northwestern supply, certainly a greater share than it represents as the Ontario supply mix as a whole.

But point number two is that the water power up there tends to be highly variable.  Its annual output, its monthly output, can vary quite considerably depending on hydraulic inflow conditions.

And in fact, I don't have the exact statistic of it at the top of my mind, but the variability of water output in northwestern Ontario is significantly greater than the variability of hydroelectric output in Ontario as a whole.

And the reason I say that is water power is, I think, the single-largest supply-related risk in northwestern Ontario, and for this reason, recognizing the relatively limited interconnection capability between the northwest and the south and between the northwest and its neighbours, it is for this reason that coal-fired generation has historically, before it was phased out in Ontario, played a very significant partnership role with water power in the northwest.

For example, in years where water power was at its lowest, coal was at its highest.  They complemented one another.

And to give you an order of magnitude, in median terms, m-e-d-i-a-n terms, the northwest water power produces something like four-and-a-half terawatt-hours a year -- this is a ballpark number.  In low water conditions it can produce two or two-and-a-half terawatt hours a year, so you see right there, it's a fairly large differential, okay, and the reason I say that is the water power is sometimes high, sometimes low, and it is very difficult to predict when that will happen.

Even, let's say, we're in January and the water is good.  We can't always be guaranteed that it will continue to be good for the rest of the year.  It's just all over the place, so I say that that is a big risk in the northwest.

Now, of course, I am forgetting your original question.  I've talked so long that I'm forgetting it.  I'm sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I forget it too, but I'll ask one more question.

[Laughter]

MR. PIETREWICZ:  I'm sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The fact that the IESO originally pushed out in-service dates --


MR. PIETREWICZ:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- is it fair to say to assume that from the IESO's perspective they saw the shortfall and the constraints up in the north to be at least a manageable risk?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Thank you for reminding me of that.

Again, I'm not going to speak for the IESO, but I can suggest that the decision to defer that line despite the fact that, as you pointed out, some capacity need was illustrated, was indicated in previous assessments, I think that reflects some kind of judgment on the IESO which I expect would factor in, A, their understanding of the nature of the risk, and I'm sure it included the potential for water lows and highs, so their understanding of the nature of the risk; B, their understanding of the availability of options to address that risk, so including the feasibility of addressing that risk; C, the cost of addressing that risk; and D, I think the cost benefit or some judgment, maybe not as explicitly, but some sense of the cost of managing that risk in light of the uncertainty.

So I think what we've seen from the IESO -- and they have kept the lights on, and they are very good at that -- I can't tell you exactly what the decision-making was, I can't speak for them, but I imagine that it was some kind of reconciliation of all these factors, including understanding risks, understanding how to deal with them, understanding what the cost is, and making a judgment on the efficacy, the cost efficiency, of managing risks, given the uncertainties.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Using your expertise, is a delay of the in-service date of one or, say, two years, would that be an unmanageable risk for the IESO?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  In my experience, I think there is a question mark.  And this is my basic point.  I don't want to overstate it, but I also don't want to understate it.

My basic point is that number one, deferring the in-service of a transmission facility, say for example from 2020 to 2021, deferring that would indeed, in my opinion, add one additional year of exposure to the northwest system.  It would.

But number two, I'm not sure -- I think there is a fair degree of uncertainty in terms of the manageability of that.  Why?  Because number one, what are these options that we can use to manage an in-service delay risk or some exposure risk?  What is -- what are the lead times of these options?

I mean, it's 2018 now.  What we're talking about is lining up something potentially for 2020, if that's of course the decision. So what is the lead time of doing that?  What is the mechanism by which to secure that?

I'm not saying it's not possible.  But as far as I'm concerned, while strongly implied that it is manageable, I don't think, in my view, that it has been demonstrated.

That's my main point, and the second related point is that based on my, you know, admittedly rather limited reading of the evidence that I've been asked to read, I'm not sure to what extent any costs of managing that risk have been incorporated into the analysis.

So there is some exposure, part A, right?  There is some exposure.  Two, I'm not saying that it is unmanageable, but I don't know.  It hasn't been demonstrated that it's manageable.

And C, I'm not sure whether the costs of managing that risk have been factored into an analysis.  That's my basic point.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As well as, I would assume, the benefit.  One would assume that if the Board decides to delay it, then they have made the assumption that the Hydro One project is cheaper.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Correct.  I mean, it's a cost-benefit; I hear you.  And I'm talking right now about the costs, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Stephenson?
Questions by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson, and I'm counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  Just a couple of areas that I wanted to touch base with you about.

I just want to talk about the project schedule for the NextBridge proposal.  As I understand it, at the time that you filed the leave to construct application, you were projecting a decision on your section 92 application for Q1 of 2018, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Sorry, say the date again?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Q1, 2018.  That's what their filing Said, the project schedule in your filing, and that was the projection at that time.

MR. MAYERS:  Subject to check.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  You're now obviously looking at a later date, and you're arguing in favour of getting a decision no later than July 2018, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Can you -- at the time that you made your original filing, of course you were looking at the same in-service date that you are still looking at, namely before the end of 2020, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Q4 of 2020.  So my question is:  What has changed since the time did you your original filing in July of 2017 and now, in terms of what has to happen between the time you get a decision from the Board on your leave to construct application and having project completion in -- by the end of 2020, such that you are able to do that losing six months out of your schedule?

MR. MAYERS:  We have a construction contract that basically states that come November, provided we have permission from this Board to move forward, that we start in November.  And we had this plan kind of all -- you know, as part of the need to meet the December 2020 in-service date, we determined that we needed approximately 24 to 25 months of construction time to complete the project.

So as far as when the original -- the date you mentioned in January and where we are with July, we've lost some time for sure and it will compress some things.  But as far as our contract goes, if we have permission to move forward, we are in, we believe, great shape to complete the project by December of 2020.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  But I'm just looking at your project schedule from your original filing and in that project schedule, at that time back in July, you were still -- you were forecasting construction starting in Q4 of 2018, the same thing you're projecting now, right.

 So again, my question really is what have you done to either your current process -- was it that back in July of 2017, you had more buffer built into your timetable?  Or is it that you've actually changed what you're doing to accommodate this loss of six months?

MR. MAYERS:  I think we did feel like we had a little bit of extra time there.  We also -- we also know that the agencies, the MNRF and then ultimately the MOECC, has requirements on time.

So we compressed everything we could possibly compress, and I think we just tried to shorten our processes down.  I don't know specifically of any real actions that were taken.

I mean, we knew that we were now having a much more compressed timetable.  But, you know, we've continued to work diligently to get the information that's necessary to these agencies to ensure that those dates are met.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So we've had -- there has been a discussion about what the potential system consequences are, in the event that completion of this project is pushed out past the end of 2020.

What I want to know is what are the consequences to NextBridge if -- let's assume you get approval, but you are unable to get the project completed by the end of December of 2020.  Are you facing any financial or other consequences in the event that occurs?

MR. MAYERS:  No.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So you don't have penalties and any arrangements that trigger some adverse consequences?

MR. MAYERS:  Not that I'm aware of, no.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Let me turn to another area, which is one of the items that the Board has specifically identified in conjunction with this motion is the issue about whether the Board can or should potentially order Hydro One to build the section of the line through the park, and then join it up with NextBridge at either end of the park.

You're aware about that issue?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I assume that having seen that issue identified, NextBridge has undertaken some examination of what the consequences might be to it, if the Board in fact adopted that approach, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And can you tell us what are the consequences if the Board chose to go down that route?

MR. MAYERS:  I think this is a two part.  One, I'll speak from a technical standpoint, and Alyson can speak to an environmental aspect of it.

Technically, it can be done.  There are utilities all over the country that have joint use agreements that allow them to basically terminate a line, the same line on a dead-end type structure and jumper over to another termination, and have separate maintenance agreements for each portion of the line, and basically decide who owns the jumper. So from a technical perspective, it could be done.

The concern is that, you know, NextBridge doesn't think it's a good idea simply because we're concerned about the timing of Hydro One's completion of their work.  And we're also concerned about the impact of the environmental assessment that would be necessary through the park for them to complete, as well as the completion of their licence and all the other work that they have to do with Parks Canada, so I'll let Alyson speak to the environmental concerns.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Just before you get to the environmental concerns, what about cost?  Presumably the aggregate cost to NextBridge for building the two -- the two individual lines is going to be somewhat less than the cost of building one long line.  Is that a fair assumption?

MR. MAYERS:  Because it is a shorter route in this particular case, in this particular section of the park, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Has NextBridge undertaken any examination as to what the incremental savings would be for its work?  Leave aside how much it's going to cost Hydro One to build its segment, but what is the difference in price between NextBridge whole line versus this other scenario?

MR. MAYERS:  We have not undertaken any estimates to this point, nor have we contracted anyone to look at it, nor have we engineered a design.  We basically just looked at, okay, if we were to build up to that point, could it technically be done?  Could we have some type of an operational agreement in place?  That's -- from my perspective on the engineering side, that's what we've looked at.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So let's just clarify here.  The Board has specifically identified this as something it's interested in, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  They asked it as a question, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you are unable to provide the Board with any assistance whatsoever as to how economically this might be a better or worse alternative than any of the other alternatives; you are just, you are not able to do that.  Is that what you're telling us?

MR. MAYERS:  We're able to do it.  We have not completed an estimate for it.  We've determined what the scope of the work might be, but we have not provided an estimate, no.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Are you planning on doing that at any point before the Board decides this case?

MR. STEVENS:  NextBridge has filed the evidence that it plans to rely for the motion next week, and there is no expectation of providing an additional cost estimate, as you are indicating.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So the answer is no.  Okay.

Okay.  You were about to tell me something about an environmental issue, and I'm happy to hear that.

MS. BEAL:  Sure.  So from an environmental assessment perspective, the amended EA for the East-West Tie project that was recently filed earlier this year does not contemplate a kind of a co-proponency (sic) or this alignment in it.  So from that point either a revised amended EA would need to be filed with a co-proponent along the line or two separate environmental assessments with Hydro One going through an EA process for the park portion of it and NextBridge amending their assessment to adjust the parks -- connecting to the park, so there would be additional review and assessment and environmental assessment process.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And on the Indigenous consultation/Indigenous agreement front, if that -- if this proposal that the Board has identified were pursued, are your current agreements and consultations sufficient to cover that scenario or would there have to be additional consultations and additional agreements in order to enable that scenario?

MS. BEAL:  So the question about the agreement -- so I'm not familiar with the details of the agreements, but generally in the context of consultation it is specific to the proponent doing the consultation, that they are out there making assertions and commitments about how a project will be executed and planned in the future.  So it's my understanding there are participation agreements as well as kind of consultation agreements as part of the environmental assessments.  I expect that they would be specific to the proponent, but I cannot give a legal opinion there.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I wonder if I could get an undertaking to advise us whether the existing consultation and the existing agreements would have to be revised or supplemented in some fashion in order for NextBridge to proceed with the scenario identified by the Board.  I'm not -- and just to be clear, I'm not talking here about any work that Hydro One would have to do; I'm talking only about the work that would be under the control of NextBridge.

MR. STEVENS:  We'll take that question under advisement.  Subject to any confidentiality concerns that are address, we'll answer it.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, just to be clear, I'm not sure how confidentiality arise.  I'm just asking the question:  Do they need -- would they need to be revised or supplemented, yes or no?

MR. STEVENS:  I understand the question.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT1.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THE EXISTING CONSULTATION AND THE EXISTING AGREEMENTS WOULD HAVE TO BE REVISED OR SUPPLEMENTED IN SOME FASHION IN ORDER FOR NEXTBRIDGE TO PROCEED WITH THE SCENARIO IDENTIFIED BY THE BOARD.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you very much.

One other item.  This is just actually a follow-up to my question about how the budget might be affected.  You've indicated obviously that there would be -- this has a potential if this scenario were to proceed that there might be -- it would have an impact on the timetable, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, leaving aside altogether the work that Hydro One would have to do under this scenario and focussing entirely on the work which would be under NextBridge's control, have you undertaken any analysis regarding what impact, if any, this scenario would have on your current timetable?

MR. MAYERS:  On the current -- sorry, I couldn't hear the end.

MR. STEPHENSON:  On the current timetable.

MR. MAYERS:  Well, I think, as we just stated, we believe that the environmental, you know, support work that would be necessary for us to undertake could impact the schedule.

MR. STEPHENSON:  My question was:  Have you undertaken any analysis to determine what impact it would have?

MR. MAYERS:  No.  I will say that, you know, initially when we looked at the project and we looked at the reference route, we would have spent time looking at the -- the reference route in this particular case was through the park.  That was our original plan.  So, you know, we might have collected some information in the past but, you know, you're talking about back in 2013, so I don't know whether we have the information, but I think in terms of what its impact might overall be, we believe that working co-jointly with Hydro One is not in the best interest at this time.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Just to be -- not in the best interest of who?

MR. MAYERS:  What we believe for the ratepayers.  I understand that they're making a claim that it is a $100 million savings.  As I said earlier, there is no substantiation to that claim --


MR. STEPHENSON:  You can't help us at all -- you've just told us you can't help us at all how this might affect your budget, right?  You have no assistance you can provide the Board on that front.

MR. MAYERS:  Not at this moment.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And just on the timetable front, just to be clear, your instinct is that this scenario would push your timetable out by some amount, correct, but you can't help us by how much; fair?

MR. MAYERS:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

Counsel for the Métis -- oh, beg pardon --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I --


MS. LEA:  -- Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could have an indulgence.  I forgot to ask a question, and I was wondering if I could ask --


MS. LEA:  As far as I'm concerned...
Continued Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:

 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- for an undertaking.  I had asked there was discussion about schedules and costs, and just so we have it on the record in this proceeding, I was wondering if my friends would provide as an undertaking the response to CCC 8, which is a broken down project cost schedule.  This is CCC 8 from the 1082 proceeding, as well as -- I believe it's in the evidence, but I'm unsure if there is an interrogatory that provided a more up-to-date project schedule.

If those two items could be put on the --


MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That is JT1.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.16:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE TO CCC.8 IN THE 1082 PROCEEDING AND AN UPDATED PROJECT SCHEDULE


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Counsel for Métis nation -- I'm sorry, I haven't remembered everyone's name.

MS. STRECHAN:  That's fine.

MS. LEA:  And your name again is?

 MS. STRACHAN:  Megan Strachan.

 MS. LEA:  Thank you, of course.
Questions by Ms. Strachan:


MS. STRECHAN:  Good afternoon, panel.  I just want to touch briefly on NextBridge's understanding of the OEB's filing requirements during the designation process, and also of the Board's phase 2 decision and order.  And in particular, I just want to understand broadly how these decisions have guided NextBridge's development of the project, which have brought us to the position today where NextBridge has filed its leave to construct application, and of course where Hydro One has filed a competing application.

So I think Mr. Mayers is likely best placed to answer these questions, so I will direct them to him.  But if someone else is better placed, then I would invite them to answer.

And I apologize, I can't actually see the whole panel, but I'll lean forward as far as I can.

So in the Board's phase 1 order for the East-West Tie, I understand there were was two distinct filing criteria related to First Nation and Métis, and one of these related to consultation and one related to economic participation.  Is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm not the expert, but that's my understanding.

MS. STRECHAN:  So in order to meet these filing requirements, prospective transmitters needed to address their approach both to First Nations and Métis participation, as well as their approach to First Nations and Métis consultation.  Is that your understanding?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MS. STRECHAN:  So in order to meet these filing requirements specifically related to First Nations and Métis consultation, prospective transmitters needed to file proposed First Nations and Métis consultation plans, and this is set out in section 10.1 of the phase 1 order.  And this consultation plan needed to include a list of communities that could be affected by the project, the proponents' approach to engaging with these communities, a description of significant Métis or First Nation issues that could arise, a plan to address these issues, as well as an overview of expected consultation outcomes.

Does that accord with your understanding of the filing requirements?

MR. MAYERS:  Again, I'm not the expert, but I do believe you are correct.

MS. STRECHAN:  So when the Board was selecting a transmitter in its phase 2 decision, it looked at First Nation and Métis consultation and First Nation and Métis economic participation as two of the nine criteria that it assessed in making its designation decision.  Is that right?

MR. MAYERS:  I believe so.

MS. STRECHAN:  So from NextBridge's perspective as the transmitter that was designated by the Board in that decision, it was required, because of that designation, to carry out those procedural aspects of consultation and also to pursue economic participation arrangements with affected and interested First Nation and Métis communities.  Is that right?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MS. STRECHAN:  So based on its understanding of these requirements, is it fair to say that NextBridge has reached a negotiated arrangement for Métis economic participation with the Métis Nation of Ontario that's anticipated to be finalized shortly?

MR. MAYERS:  That is my understanding.

MS. STRECHAN:  And I just have one final clarification.  Is it the case that all of the costs of First Nations and Métis consultation, as well as First Nations and Métis economic participation, that all of these costs are included and accounted for in NextBridge's overall figure of $777 million for the project?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MS. STRECHAN:  Thank you, those are all my questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Counsel for MOECC?

MR. ADAMSON:  I have no questions.

MS. LEA:  Who's here for -- Michael Buonaguro, please.
Questions by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, this schedule is cutting down quite nicely.  I was supposed to be on at 2:00.

Good afternoon, panel.  I have just some follow-up questions for Mr. Pietrewicz, I believe, similar in vein to what you were discussing with Mr. Rubenstein, so if I can turn your mind at least to that part of the evidence.

Now, as I understand it, your evidence was filed at the end of April, and then Hydro One filed supplementary evidence about a week later responding specifically to several things.  But in specific, what I'm interested in is the issue of the one year difference in in-service date.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Yes, the order of what you said is accurate.  I don't recall the exact dates.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to take you specifically to the Hydro One evidence and get your response to it.  I think maybe it was embedded in a lot of what you were talking about with Mr. Rubenstein, but I wanted you to look at their exact evidence, in particular the summary at the beginning of their evidence.  I'm just going to pull that up for myself.

So I'm looking at the Hydro One -- sorry, Hydro One Networks Inc. LSL motion additional evidence filed May 7th, and I'm looking at page 2 of their evidence.

At the top of the page, there is a II in-service date.  I'm looking at the second and third paragraphs in particular and as I understood this, I think it's a summary of what's later in the evidence.  It's sort of a tight summary of what their response is in terms of the issue of the in-service date.

And I'll read it for the transcript.  It says:
"Hydro One's evidence is that a one-year delay in the IESO's recommended 2020 in-service date is manageable.  Ontario's northwest transmission system today has a capacity shortfall of 100 megawatts, according to the IESO's planning criteria and assumptions.  In 2020, that capacity shortfall is forecast to have grown to 240 megawatts, and in 2021 the expected shortfall is 250 megawatts.  In 2015, the IESO forecast 3000-megawatt capacity shortfall in 2020, but at the same time, the IESO recommended delaying the in-service date to 2020.  It is apparent that the IESO believe that the capacity shortfall of 300 megawatts was manageable to ensure a safe and reliable transmission system.  Hydro One's evidence is that a capacity shortfall of 250 megawatts is clearly manageable."
So if I make the assumption -- is it true that you've read all the evidence, not just that the two paragraphs that I've read to you that Hydro One filed?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  I don't know if I read all of the evidence, but I read more than those two paragraphs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  On this issue?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I'm trying to make it short.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding of your discussion with Mr. Rubenstein is that -- well, maybe you can summarize it for me.  I think you agreed to some of it, but you are still wary about what happens in 2020 to 2021 if there is no transmission line.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  That's it, exactly.  To these points, I mean it's pointing out that in the past, the IESO has identified the potential for some needs in the northwest between now and 2020, yes?  And that's cited here, the examples are given.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, there has been some discussion today and in the original tech conference with respect to NextBridge and the possibility that there may be delay and your line might not come into service until 2022.

That's at least a possibility, and we don't have to talk about how remote or likely it is.  But that is a possibility?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  I've seen stranger things happen.  I wouldn't debate the possibility of slippage of major...

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't know how strange people would think of in-service dates for large projects slipping.  But it could happen.

And in that event, presumably somebody has to deal with this capacity shortfall until a line -- whether it is your line, Hydro One's line, or somebody else's line, somebody has to deal with that capacity shortfall, correct?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Correct, with the caveat that if indeed there would be a capacity shortfall.  Things evolve, things change, and the IESO mentioned several times in its analyses that it keeps its eyes on what's going on.

So this is right now the IESO's projection that the 2017 study of what might happen in 2020.  The reality may turn out differently, right.  So based on the outlook today, there is a projected need in 2020 of something like 240 megawatts under the following conditions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you just acknowledged, to be fair, you're saying there is no capacity shortfall that needs to be specifically managed, and I'm dealing with the possibility that there is.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in the IESO's updated report from December 1st, I think was the date, 2017, talks about comparing the economic benefits or the economic cost or the net present value of, I assume, the NextBridge project specifically, correct?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So when it talks about the cost it is talking about your project, not a project.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  It is comparing NextBridge's project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And NextBridge's recommended in-service date -- or, sorry, not recommended, your forecast in-service date 2020?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  That's correct.  I don't work for Enbridge.  I don't know if you're aware of that --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Did I say --


MR. PIETREWICZ:  You say "my project" or --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I like to talk to in broad --


MR. PIETREWICZ:  Okay.  I see.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I talk to the whole panel at once.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Right.  I got it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in the report you will remember there is a value of -- sort of a net present value differential of $200 million, saying that doing this project is $200 million better than the alternative.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Something like that.  It may have -- the number that sticks out in my mind is 100 million, but I think there is a plus and minus there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that is in the sensitivity range of --


MR. PIETREWICZ:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- negative 100 to positive 500.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think the report says 200 million.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What's important, though, is -- what I understand is that that $200 million is relative to what I would assume are long-term generation options.  Like, instead of doing a transmission line we have to do something else for the next 30 years.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And when you talked about Mr. Rubenstein about what happens in that year if there is a year delay, that would be -- you said that there could be a cost, if the capacity shortfall manifests itself, and let's say it's 240 megawatts, somebody has to do something, and that something, assuming that there is a line down the road and it is only going to be a year or two years or however long before it comes in, there is going to be short-term solutions, correct?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  That's a great point, yes, if a transmission line would come in, some, you know, T plus two years or one year, and therefore we had some residual risk in the meantime to cover, right -- I think that was a scenario you're painting -- we had some residual risk to cover for, say, a year or two, to your point, to your question, one would want to satisfy that that -- to mitigate that risk with something that's relatively short-term in nature, meaning that you could implement it for the duration that it is needed and then stop paying for it when it's not needed.

Why is that a good thing?  It's compared to the opposite, which is building an enduring asset that one will have to pay for for a long time to cover what is actually a short duration need and at the same time impinging what I would consider to be the value proposition of a transmission expansion in the first place, which is to offset the need for building long-term supply located in the northwest.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you for that.

Now, my understanding of the IESO report is I don't think it talks about that type of cost in terms of -- well, it doesn't talk about the possibility of recommending a further date in the first place.  Everything centres around a 2020 in-service date?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Correct, and that's why it's apples to apples.  So the IESO did an apples-to-apples comparison where everything would start at the same time, if I'm not mistaken, in 2020, and therefore everything before it was common, and therefore not distinguishing between the two options.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so what I'm struggling -- and maybe you can confirm -- I'm struggling with this idea that there is no quantification of the impact of that one-year delay in that sense.

So, yes, you can push off the project for one year -- well, sorry, I don't think you necessarily agree with that, but if the project were not to come into service in 2020 and it were come in 2021, that's a one-year delay, the IESO has forecasted a potential or likely -- how everyone characterize a shortfall of 240 to 260 megawatts in that time frame, there is a possibility that somebody's going to have to deal about that shortfall.  It's probably going to be a short-term solution, so presumably that is a -- there's incremental cost associated with that that isn't incurred if you have the line in the 2020, and I'm trying to figure out how much is that cost likely to be.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Well --


MR. BUONAGURO:  In my mind that's a cost that might -- if you are comparing the two projects here, that's a cost that could be added to a project that is not coming into service in 2020, or at least a potential cost.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  And whether it should or shouldn't be -- this is the point that I'm making, that if a transmission line comes in later there is some risk to be covered, potentially, and unless the options to manage that risk are free, which I don't think they would be, there would be a cost in arranging options to manage risk for a period of one year.

That, to your point -- and I think this is the early part of your question -- I don't think that was assessed in the 2017 IESO assessment.  It considered two options coming in at 2020.

But to your point, yes, there would a cost to that, potentially.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to sort of characterize what types of options that would entail if we're talking about a short-term solution to meet a capacity shortfall picture?  I ask because I have no idea.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  So, sure, I can speak at a high level.  I don't want to paint anyone into a corner.  I don't want to speak for the IESO on what feasible options are, but there are -- you know, the types of short-term options that I usually think about when I think short-term options are things like potentially firm imports or -- from somewhere else, in this case from west of the northwest, and that's a potential for a short-term option, potentially.  Maybe things like demand response, right?

I can't think of too many additional short-term options, because at some point things involve investing in assets, whether to expand them, in which case we're -- they're there, and --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  -- persist for many years, or building new assets, which is the same thing, so in my view there are relatively few investment type of short-term options.

There may be plenty of operational measures that can be taken, but I'm not confident in speaking to those.  That is beyond my level of expertise.  I've done more in terms of investments in assets.  There are relatively few short-term options that I can think of.  Operationally there may be more flexibility than there typically is, but it's beyond my skill set.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And whatever options are taken, I'm assuming it would be the IESO that is the one that decides what's going to happen?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  I can see that as a credible scenario.  And I don't know.  And this was my point earlier, that, okay, what are the options?  We can name them.  We just named a couple of them.  To what extent are they appropriate options in terms of, A) how well they align with the duration of the need and how well they align with the nature of the need.

As an example, let's say a -- building a lot of solar panels, right?  To address what is, in fact, you know, could be a deficit in winter periods over sustained periods of time.  You know, that's an example where there wouldn't be a good alignment between the need and the potential solution.

Whether an import is well-aligned with the needs that the IESO would anticipate in the northwest, I don't know.  I mean, I -- we can point to ways in which it might not be and we can point to ways in which it could very well be, but I haven't assessed that, and this is my point.  We can identify options, but I would say the credibility of that is uncertain to me, anyways; namely, are there such options, really?  Is there power to sell to Ontario?  Can we line it up in the time frames involved?  What is the cost of that?  How well does it align with the nature of the need?  All I'm just saying is there is an uncertainty here that in my view hasn't been demonstrated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I'm assuming -- and this is not a trick question -- I'm assuming it is not NextBridge's role to fill that gap, even if you're -- we're talking about your project being approved and your project time frame slipping by a year or however much it slips, you are not the one going in and filling the gap before the line goes in-service, are you?

MR. MAYERS:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I'm assuming it's not -- it wouldn't be Hydro One -- I mean, I can ask them tomorrow, but I'm assuming it's not Hydro One filling in the gap even if their project were to be approved?

MR. MAYERS:  I can't answer that question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you answer -- I'm assuming it's the case that simply the IESO would be involved.

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Again with my bias, I suspect the IESO would be involved, but I don't know.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LEA:  Thanks very much.

Just before we all leave for lunch, I thought we could talk about the schedule a bit.  But we can do that off the record, if that's all right
--- Luncheon recess at taken at 12:37 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:45 p.m.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And welcome back.  I believe that we are still -- we have the NextBridge panel before us, and I think, Mr. Garner, you are up next.  Thank you.
Questions by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Mark Garner.  I am a consultant with the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  I just have a few questions, very few questions.

The first thing is -- and there was an earlier conversation that you had, someone on the panel, I think maybe you, Mr. Mayers had with Mr. Rubenstein about -- or someone here about what you would need from Hydro One in order to ascertain whether their cost estimate had any legitimacy.  Let me just use that word, or validity.

I'm wondering if you can help me with a list -- and maybe you can do this by undertaking -- with a list -- and I mean this at the broadest or highest level.  I understand, as Mr. Stevens has said, you have a lot of undertakings to do, but at the highest level if you could give us a list of what are those things that you would need to understand in order to as ascertain whether this estimate was -- was -- I hate to use the word "legitimate", but accurate, maybe.

And I suspect Mr. Stevens is going to ask a few questions of Hydro One to the same effect, but in case he's not that successful, I just want to understand what the areas are that one would need to know.  Could you help me with that?

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, I would be happy to.  You know, first off, it is a number.  I am not aware of seeing any type of cost estimate in any of the evidence that's been submitted, so it would be helpful to have a cost breakdown similar to what NextBridge has provided which would be inclusive of their engineering costs, their construction costs, their participation in Indigenous -- what the Indigenous communities -- a breakdown of their EPC contract, if possible, what type of negotiations, what type of contract it actually is.

I'd like to see the -- any type of consultation, as I mentioned, or participation, information that might be available, any of the related costs to offset the -- and this may be something that they have to work through, the IESO, but when they take the line out of service, you know, are there any impacts to the system costs related to that, or their development costs, and where are they with, you know, in those -- of the breakdown of those costs.

And there may be other things that I'm just not coming off the top of my head, but I think at a minimum, you know, we'd like to start there.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Would you need -- I'm sorry, Mr. Stevens, you were going to say something?

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, you'd sort of prefaced the question at the beginning, Mr. Garner, by suggesting this might be done by way of undertaking, and just as Mr. Mayers has said, there may be other things, and I don't know whether there are other things, but we are certainly prepared to provide an undertaking to supplement, if necessary, the items that Mr. Mayers has identified.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And I'm -- I think you've reached a level -- although if you would like to add that in an undertaking you certainly would be able to you, but let me just -- I was going to follow up with just one question about that.  Would you need, in your mind, the level of detail that one would get in RFPs, down to that level, where you are actually getting closer to the contractor and understand more of the contracting costs?  Would that be part of what you think you would need to get an accurate figure?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, otherwise it is just an estimate that is, you know, provided by HONI.  We would prefer to see that you have some form of the contract in place and that there -- in that particular contract, that -- whether there is a risk-sharing agreement of some sort or whether we can expect that all the costs are inclusive in that contract, you know, to substantiate it I think you have to have some legitimate level of detail.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So Mr. Stevens, do you want to hold a space on the undertaking list for anything further?

MR. STEVENS:  I think it makes sense to hold a space.  It may well be there's nothing, but to identify it, and we'll respond as appropriate.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That is JT1.17.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.17:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THERE IS A RISK-SHARING AGREEMENT OR WHETHER ALL COSTS ARE INCLUSIVE IN THE CONTRACT

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, and thank you, Mr. Stevens, that would be helpful if there is.

My next question really goes to this point:  If the Board were to decide to do something different, let's say, and I would just like to get a very clear understanding in my mind, and I think the figure's been out there, but just to make sure I'm clear by next Wednesday, what the sunk costs are that you would seek to recover as part of the Board departing ways, so to speak, with NextBridge.  What would be -- what would be the consequence for NextBridge of that?  Can you help me?  I think there is a figure out there, but just so I'm clear, as clear as I can be for Wednesday.

MR. STEVENS:  My understanding -- sorry to jump in, Mr. Garner -- is that an undertaking to this effect was given in the leave to construct application last week, so we'd be prepared to -- it might be --


MR. GARNER:  Maybe move it over to this one then.

MR. STEVENS:  -- efficient to also answer that undertaking in this proceeding.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  That will be helpful, and you will excuse me also.  I'm getting mixed up to where we talked in one place and where we talked the other, but -- and for this record that would be very helpful.  So thank you, Mr. Stevens.

Now --


MS. CRNOJACKI:  So are we putting the -- so the undertaking -- I don't have the number of that undertaking, but this one will be JT1.18.  And Mr. Garner, if you would just help me.

MR. GARNER:  It is a transfer of the undertaking made from the 0182, which is an undertaking to provide the total sunk costs that NextBridge would seek to recover should it be departing from this application, I --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I have the transcript in front of me.  It is JT1.25.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Okay.  So it's a transfer of Undertaking JT1.25 to this proceeding.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.18:  TO TRANSFER UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.25 OF THE 0182 PROCEEDING TO THIS PROCEEDING.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein, and thank you --


MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  My next question is:  In those costs that we spoke about in that proceeding, would that -- does that include any costs -- and I'm not sure there are any from what you said earlier -- does that include any costs that might be incurred, liabilities you have with First Nations or Métis communities, if you don't proceed?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't think I can answer that.

MR. GARNER:  Perhaps as part of this undertaking you would.  So what I'm interested in, I heard a date of November by the Chiefs this morning.  Chief Collins, I think, made that month frame of November where he indicated there would be consequences, and I would like to understand is:  Are there consequences to NextBridge liabilities cost consequences in not meeting -- in going past November that it would incur as part of those costs?  Is that possible?

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, I think I heard two different things.  One is whether there were First Nations and Métis-related costs included in the development costs for which NextBridge would seek recovery if the project doesn't go ahead.  But then I think I heard you say whether there are specific costs related to First Nations and Métis that would be incurred if a November deadline --


MR. GARNER:  You are absolutely right, Mr. Stevens, I'm being sloppy, and you are absolutely right.  I think the thing is that both are questions, and the first question is, is will the -- in response to the undertaking, will those include all the First Nations and Métis costs that would be incurred?  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.

The second part, though, however, was what Mr. Stevens has outlined, is I heard today the First Nation communities talking about a November time frame in which they were gearing up, let's say, for your project, and that there would be consequences to them to that.  I'm interested in understanding if those consequences to them are in any way visited upon you should they not be able to make those time lines; i.e., do you have contractual agreements that would kick into place if you become delayed and need to compensate them in any fashion?

MR. STEVENS:  Thanks for splitting those out.  On the latter question, we'll take that under advisement without knowing as we sit here today whether there is any confidentiality concerns with sharing that information.

MR. GARNER:  Certainly, and if there is -- I mean, it'll be trite -- if you can be helpful, Mr. Stevens -- and I can understand what you're saying is:  If it is even possible to indicate whether in fact there are just some liabilities so at least we understand whether there are or are not, so -- because we're interested in two things.  One is obviously the costs to the ratepayers, but from what we've heard this morning, we are interested in the cost to these communities.

MR. STEVENS:  Understood.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  So for the benefit of the transcript, I've been asked to try clarify in certain instances that the title or the intent of the undertaking.  So this will be JT1.19, and it has two parts, two questions to be answered by NextBridge.

Whether the -- I will just try to interpret.  The cost consequences to NextBridge of First Nation and Métis consultation and accommodation if the November 2018 date is not met.

MR. GARNER:  Cost consequences to NextBridge.  I think it would be their cost consequences, and I believe Mr. Stevens will take that under advisement and get back to us.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Okay.  And then the second part whether First Nation and Métis consultation and contractual costs of accommodation are included in the development cost for the --


MS. LEA:  And those are the total sunk costs that were referenced in JT1.18.

MR. GARNER:  Which could be amended to include that issue.

MS. LEA:  So as I understand the undertaking, JT1.18 includes the question of whether or not First Nation and Métis consultation and accommodation costs are included in the sunk costs listed in that undertaking.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.19:  (A) TO ADVISE WHETHER THE COST CONSEQUENCES TO NEXTBRIDGE OF FIRST NATION AND MÉTIS CONSULTATION AND ACCOMMODATION IF THE NOVEMBER 2018 DATE IS NOT MET; (B) TO ANSWER THE QUESTION WHETHER OR NOT FIRST NATION AND MÉTIS CONSULTATION AND ACCOMMODATION COSTS ARE INCLUDED IN THE SUNK COSTS LISTED IN UNDERTAKING JT1.18

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, and if everybody has that, I'll move forward.

Now, Mr. Mayers, you might recall last week or whenever it was we spoke, we brought one of your colleagues to a table -- and again, I'm very cognizant of how much work you're going to have to do in undertakings, but I think this is relatively straightforward.

If you look at the table -- and you will have to do this by way of undertaking.  If you look at the table that was in the attachment to CCC 11, the benchmarking study done by Charles River Associates, you might recall we had a conversation about the dollar cost per line at that time.

What I'm interested in having you do -- and I think it is just a mathematical excise, but it will put all the information for me in one place -- to take that figure table which is figure 9, and then to add a column to that table which would actually put in the original EWT categories.  So it has number of categories: voltage, length, cost, total cost, line per cost.

Is it possible for you to do that for me?

MR. MAYERS:  It would be helpful if we had the table up on the screen here.

MR. GARNER:  I'm sorry, maybe you can take a look at it.  It is a fairly simple table and I think all of it makes -- all you will need to do is take the figure I think you used earlier this morning of 405 million -- I thought it was in the 300 millions -- and basically run it through that table, because I think that was the original estimate when you sought approval of this project in front of the Board.

So all I'm really trying to is have a view of what that looked like if one used the figures that you first presented to the Board.

And if it is a difficulty, you can convey that to Mr. Stephens and we can talk about it.  I don't want --


MS. LEA:  I'm not sure I understand what's being asked.  So first of all, Mr. Garner, this is an answer to an interrogatory in the 0182 proceeding?

MR. GARNER:  That's right.

MS. LEA:  And that Interrogatory No. is?

MR. GARNER:  CCC No. 11.

MS. LEA:  And in there, there is a figure 9, which is a table showing costs.  So are you asking NextBridge to say what the column would contain, what was in their original designation application?

MR. GARNER:  That's right, in their original designation application.  Thank you very much.  And thank you whoever -- thank you, Ms. Allman, for bringing it up.

That the table, and it basically shows the voltage, length, cost, whatever.  So it's table 9 updated for your original designation application.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be JT1.20, and that's for NextBridge to update figure 9 in the CRA report of January 2018 by adding a table with the information for the original designation East-West Tie proposal.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.20:  NEXTBRIDGE TO UPDATE FIGURE 9 IN THE CRA REPORT OF JANUARY 2018 BY ADDING A TABLE WITH THE INFORMATION FOR THE ORIGINAL DESIGNATION EAST-WEST TIE PROPOSAL

MS. LEA:  Just a column, I think, eh?

MR. GARNER:  That's right.  Can you undertake to do that, I guess?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you very much.

Now another figure, another number that I heard this morning -- again, I believe it was Chief Collins -- it was a figure about the number of people in the First Nations communities that were affected by the construction.

I heard a figure of 300.  And I don't know -- I'm not familiar enough with the evidence.  Is that somewhere in the evidence of how many people in these communities are affected, in the sense of being employed or otherwise engaged in this project.  Can I find that somewhere?  Or do you even know that?

MR. MAYERS:  I do not, no.

MR. GARNER:  Does anybody on this panel know how many that...

MR. STEVENS:  We don't believe it's addressed within NextBridge's evidence.

 MR. WARREN:  Well, let me ask it this way.  Do you have any reason to dispute what Chief Collins said -- and I'm not talking about down to the six or seven people.  I'm talking, generally speaking, the kind of figure he used, the number of people who will be impacted in the First Nations communities if this project is delayed.

MR. MAYERS:  I'm really not in a position to answer that.

MR. GARNER:  Fair enough.  The next question is -- this next question is for you, Mr. Pietrewicz.  How did I do on that?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Best to date.

MR. GARNER:  Well, Mr. Pietrewicz, my wife's name is Victorovitch, and only you and I can probably spell that -- and not even me, sometimes.

You were talking to Mr. Rubenstein about the consequence of delay, and because the IESO is not here in a sense before us, you are the best planner here and I'm sure you are a good one.

 I was trying to get an understanding of -- I'm not sure if an opinion is the right word, but an understanding from you that if the Board were inclined to defer either making the decision or the project by six months, would it be your opinion that it should then seek an opinion of the IESO as to the consequence of that delay?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  Thanks, I've thought about the question.  I imagine if the Board were to consider a delay, it probably would want to know what the implication of that delay would be on the reliability of the northwestern system.  And therefore, so as far as the IESO is, I think, in the best position to opine on that or analyze that and describe the implications, I imagine that would be exactly what should happen.

MR. GARNER:  So just to be clear for myself, NextBridge, I believe, is hoping to get approval by July -- six months would be the end of the year.  So the end of -- if it were to take longer than the end of the  year for a resolution to this issue, let's call it, your view would be that they should engage the IESO on an analysis of the consequence?

MR. PIETREWICZ:  It's kind of on the fine line.  I think, being slightly conservative with a background in power systems, I would want to know personally.  It's on the fine line insofar as if the project was delayed say from a -- I understand it would be a December 2020 in-service to, say, a mid 2021 in-service, half of the northwest winter is in that 2021 period and the demands in  northwestern Ontario are the highest in the winter.  They typically happen in December, January and February.  And insofar as the delay would cause the line not to be available until well into 2021, there would be a period there of high demands not met by an expanded East-West Tie and I would want to understand whether those high demands can be managed, or the risk of meeting those high demands can be managed.

For that reason, I would want to know -- that said, it is a bit on the fine line.  I'm sorry I can't be more categorical for you.

 MR. WARREN:  Fair enough.  Thank you, panel.  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Those are my questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  Mr. Esquega, are you on the line?

MR. ESQUEGA:  I am, thank you.

MS. LEA:  Just before you proceed, we've had some trouble hearing you.  If there's anything you can do on your end to increase the volume, that would be helpful. But when you are ready, please go ahead.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Can you hear me clearly now?

MS. LEA:  It's still a bit faint, sir.  I'm not sure it's your problem.  Are you on the handset or the speaker?  It is easier on handset.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I'm on the speakerphone right now.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  I don't know if picking up your handset would assist.

MR. ESQUEGA:  This phone's not connected to a handset.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  In that case then you will just have to speak up.  Thank you so much, sir.  We've had similar problems hearing.
Questions By Mr. Esquega:

MR. ESQUEGA:  I'll try to be quick so you don't have to deal with this issue all that long.

I'm not sure who I would be asking questions of in terms of the questions I've got here right now for NextBridge, so I'll just leave it up to the panel there to answer my questions.

I'm just wondering if anyone has any familiarity with the location of my client, Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishinaabek.  I'll refer to them from now on as BZA.

MS. LEA:  Thank you for providing that pronunciation, though.  I was a bit scared to attempt it myself.  Can anyone on the panel help us?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, I don't -- are you talking about geographically?

MS. LEA:  I believe so.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yes, please.

MR. MAYERS:  So, no, I'm sorry, not off the top of my head.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Are you -- do you know if it's close to Nipigon at all?

MS. LEA:  Close to Nipigon.

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, it's the same answer.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay, I will deal with this question with another witness then.

In terms of your leave to construct application, I'm going to make some reference to that.  In there you talked about a consultation plan that NextBridge had developed.  Are you familiar with that?

MR. MAYERS:  Can you show me -- tell me the reference point, please?

MR. ESQUEGA:  In your leave to construct application you make reference to Exhibit H in great detail to the consultation efforts that NextBridge is undertaking in this process.

MR. MAYERS:  Specifically where in tab H?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay, right at the --


MR. MAYERS:  From the framework?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Right at the second page you talk about it in the activity.  It says:

"All 18 First Nation communities have been consulted with to the extent that thereby each individual community and will continue to be provided with information engaged in direct dialogue in order to allow both NextBridge and each community to understand the potential impact, if any, of the line project on any of the rights or interests."

MR. MAYERS:  May I see that?

MR. ESQUEGA:  [Audio dropout] and BZA is one of the communities that was consulted.  They went on to [Audio dropout] that is pretty clear from the record.  Is that fair to say?

MR. MAYERS:  I believe since 2014 NextBridge has been consulting with BZA.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yeah, I think Chief Melvin Hardy for the First Nations solemn affidavit, I think he said back to 2013 when the consultation efforts began with NextBridge, and you have nothing to dispute that, right?

MR. MAYERS:  I could not.  My understanding was 2014.

MR. ESQUEGA:  In any event, though, he's maintained, actually, that the consultation efforts are still ongoing; is that fair to say?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, it is.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And in Exhibit H we get into a little more detail down below as to some of the participation rights that have been afforded to some of the First Nations, and we heard earlier from today from BLP that they have economic arrangement established with NextBridge; is that right?

MR. MAYERS:  That's my understanding.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And if we turn to page 6 of your Exhibit H, we go halfway down the page and it talks about:
"NextBridge has taken, and will continue to take, all reasonable steps to provide participation opportunities consistent with the participation options outlined in its participation plan."

So my understanding, given that the consultation efforts are still ongoing, is the fact that there may be participation opportunities still available to my client; is that fair to say?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, it is.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And some of these participation options have been set out in your exhibit again, and these include opportunities such as training and skills upgrading; is that right?

MR. MAYERS:  Honestly, I cannot speak to the level of detail in the participation of, you know, what you are referring to.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Sure.  Well, if you can't speak to the level of detail on this, perhaps we can do this by undertaking and prior to the motion hearing next week you can undertake to provide us with information as to what participation opportunities may still be available to my client, for example, in this process.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, we can provide that undertaking.

MS. LEA:  So I think we are at JT1.21; is that right?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. CRNOJACKI:  That's for NextBridge to provide what participation opportunities may still be available to BZA First Nation.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.21:  (A) TO PROVIDE WHAT PARTICIPATION OPPORTUNITIES MAY STILL BE AVAILABLE TO BZA FIRST NATION; (B) TO ADVISE WHETHER OR NOT EQUITY OR REVENUE-SHARING OPPORTUNITIES MAY STILL BE AVAILABLE TO THEM.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And in particular, as a sub-undertaking to that, whether or not equity or revenue-sharing opportunities may still be available to them.

MR. STEVENS:  We can add that.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.

Now, the next series of my questions are just to confirm my understanding as to some of the budget allocations that have been shared in your leave to construct application again.  And I'm referring now to Exhibit B, tab 9.

We've heard some questions about budgetary issues concerning First Nation participation and consultation, but specifically in this tab I note that as of January -- sorry, July 31st 2017 you have set out specific amounts as to what those costs will be.

Are you familiar with that, or do you have it in front of you?

MR. MAYERS:  If you are referring to Table 2, I do have that in front of me.

MR. ESQUEGA:  That's right, so I just want to confirm for the record what those numbers were as of July 31, 2017, and from my understanding with reference to Table 2 is the First Nation and Métis participation amount was earmarked at $7 million; is that right?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And that hasn't all been expended yet, right?

MR. MAYERS:  Honestly, I can't answer that.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay, could I get an undertaking to verify whether or not that's all been expended yet?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we can provide an answer as to whether all those funds have been spent.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That's JT1.22, NextBridge to confirm whether the participation budget has been expended.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.22:  (A) TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE PARTICIPATION BUDGET HAS BEEN EXPENDED.  (B) TO CONFIRM WHETHER FIRST NATION AND MÉTIS CONSULTATION BUDGET HAS BEEN EXPENDED.

MR. ESQUEGA:  With respect to the line item right below the participation amount we have the consultation amount for First Nation and Métis consultation, and that line item is $13,211,000; is that right?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And I would also ask for the same undertaking to let me know whether or not -- whether or not that amount has been expended.

MR. STEVENS:  We can add that to JT1.22.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  So --


MS. LEA:  It's the same undertaking.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  The same undertaking, to provide whether First Nation and Métis consultation budget has been expended.

MR. ESQUEGA:  That's right.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thanks.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Now, in terms of this budget, I understand, was there an additional budget submitted more recently that talked about additional funds that had been expended in addition to that or expected to be added to that?  Or are those the budget numbers that still stand today?

MR. MAYERS:  I honestly can't say.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I'd be satisfied if you could answer that by undertaking as well.

MS. LEA:  One moment, please.

MR. STEVENS:  We will provide an undertaking as to whether the numbers in Table 2 have been updated within the leave to construct application.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That's JT1.23.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.23:  TO ADVISE AS TO WHETHER THE NUMBERS IN TABLE 2 HAVE BEEN UPDATED WITHIN THE LEAVE TO CONSTRUCT APPLICATION.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much, sir.

That takes us to the IESO.  Here we are.  Mr. Zacher.
Questions by  Mr. Zacher:

MR. ZACHER:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Glenn Zacher, counsel for the IESO, and I just have a couple of questions, and I think, Mr. Bolbrock, these may be for you.

The specific question I have is with regards to NextBridge's assertion that its two double-circuit design is preferable from a reliability perspective to the Hydro One design in, at least insofar as that Hydro One design that goes through the park and is a four circuit design, which I understand from your evidence exposes the length between northwest Ontario and the rest of Ontario to sort of a single point of failure.  Have I sort of characterized it correctly?

MR. BOLBROCK:  Yes, you have.

 MR. ZACHER:  And I understand from the responding evidence that Hydro One has filed that they've sought to refute that on the grounds that the sort of extreme contingency that would make that portion of its design exposed to that sort of risk would likewise cause the loss of all four circuits on the two line double circuit NextBridge design, which are located in the same corridor.  So it's sort of a commensurate risk.

I just want to ask you is that -- are you satisfied with that response, or do you disagree with it?

MR. BOLBROCK:  Absolutely not.  I totally disagree with it.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.

MR. BOLBROCK:  On a simplistic standpoint, the mere fact that a test, the extreme contingency test is the same, doesn't mean that the relative risk is the same.

For example, if you had a really wide right of way, and you had two double circuit towers on the edge of the right of way as opposed to a single quad circuit tower anywhere on the right way, I think it is incontrovertible that the risk of the failure of the quad tower would be greater, even though the test is the same and the actions you have to take might be the same.

But here, I think, is the elephant in the room in this whole procedure, and that is in the IESO here -- I give credit to the IESO, because the IESO, I think, was very helpful and consistently pointed out to HONI that once the SVC was installed that would raise the east-west transfer limit to 650, that NPCC bulk power system criteria kicked in.  This is -- from what I can tell, just as consistently, HONI ignored that and basically said we'll deal with it later, don't worry about it.  We'll take care of it.  We'll have an SPS that's going to take care of it.

Just to give a little background, when NERC established their BES criteria...

MS. LEA:  Sir, you are very familiar with all the acronyms, but not all of us are.

MR. BOLBROCK:  I apologize.

MS. LEA:  That's all right.  I think I understood the first part.  But if you are going to keep with more acronyms, perhaps you can help us further.

MR. BOLBROCK:  Feel free to point that out to me when I do that.

When the North American Electric Reliability group decided to set their standards and to define bulk electric system, they use what's -- as you know, or may know -- what's called a bright line test, anything 100 kV and above, and that's the simple way to do it.  It doesn't necessarily mean that all the elements at 100 kV would actually have an impact on the bulk electric system, but it is a simple way to do it.

Northeast Power Coordinating Council, or NPCC -- which actually was in existence prior to the NERC -- had established reliability criteria prior to NERC having any reliability criteria.  And the NPCC criteria is, in many instances, more specific and/or more stringent than the NERC criteria.

In fact, NERC -- NPCC, just as an aside, NPCC had to go to war with NERC because NERC wanted the same criteria throughout the country, and NPCC argued we want to have more stringent criteria, and they were successful.

So here's -- I'm getting to the key point. As the IESO correctly pointed out, once the transfer level goes to 650 -- and it could be that it's triggered at 500, we don't know.  It is some amount where the NPCC performance-based criteria, and by that I mean they don't just pick a voltage level; they actually do studies to see if there will be an impact, a detrimental impact on the bulk power system.  And once they do that, it's likely, I think highly like and I think the IESO was correct in consistently pointing this out, that once those bulk system -- NPCC bulk power system designation goes into effect, there is applicability of NPCC criteria.  And HONI mistakenly says, well, for that we'll need to get an  exclusion and the exclusion would be, in my view, and in being involved in this and NPCC considerations, would have little, little chance, especially not only is it the number of towers involved, but also there's a consequential load of loss.  And I think the probability of being granted any kind of exclusion would be next to zero.

However, the key point is, and the point that was missed by HONI is that once the NPCC criteria kicks in, in the case of the NextBridge two double circuit lines, that will still be an extreme contingency event.  It would take a loss of lines on a right of way.

In the case of HONI, that quad circuit tower is now fundamentally a single contingency.  It would have to meet N minus one criteria and the only way to do that -- the only two ways to do that would be some kind of an SPS, which again would definitely be --


MS. LEA:  A what?

MR. BOLBROCK:  A special protection system.  The one in question in this case is the northwest SPS remedial action scheme.  It would have to -- that's not going to happen.

So therefore, the alternative is to build a third line, to build another transmission line.  And that is the type of thing that HONI should have looked at now, should have addressed now.  And when I actually read their application for the first time, I had a -- I said I'm missing something here, and I had to read it again and again.

And I said no, they think they're going to slide by on this, and I could foresee -- I don't want to attribute motives to them.  But, you know, the motives aren't -- one motive might be that they just missed it.  They didn't fully understand the implications.

MR. ZACHER:  Sir, your -- I just want to be clear.  The statement that you've made in your report that about the single point of failure vulnerability that the Hydro One project has vis-a-vis NextBridge, that is just in respect of the portion of the Hydro One project that's located in the park, as compared to the parallel portion of the project that NextBridge has outside of the park, right?  It is limited to that?

MR. BOLBROCK:  Yes, it has to do -- everything is -- when I say everything, the comparing NextBridge versus HONI up to that point with two double circuit towers, that's the same thing.

The quad circuits at the higher transfer level, once they trigger and are designated as NPCC bulk power system facilities, now there's a problem.

MR. ZACHER:  I have a related question, and I'll just give you a little context.

Under normal conditions, the IESO operates the system in the northwest to withstand a contingency that removes a single circuit from service.  However, under high-risk conditions, so when there's a storm within 50 kilometres of the East-West Tie, the IESO operates a system to withstand the loss of both circuits in the quarter because there is a higher likelihood of loss of multiple circuits.

MR. BOLBROCK:  When you say both circuits, you mean both towers?

MR. ZACHER:  Yes, that's right.

MR. BOLBROCK:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  So my question is for the purpose of NextBridge's proposed double circuit configuration in the same corridor, what's the likelihood all four circuits tripping as the result of an extreme event, like a lightning strike?

I am asking that question because it is going to inform the IESO's practice obviously going forward.

MR. BOLBROCK:  It is an extreme contingency.  And therefore, because it is an extreme contingency, you can deal with it with a special protection system.

But my point is if there is a quad circuit tower there, under NPCC bulk power system criteria, that suddenly becomes basically a single contingency.

MR. ZACHER:  But leaving aside the Hydro One design, the NextBridge design, what's the likelihood of something like a lightning strike wiping out all four circuits?

MR. BOLBROCK:  I would have to examine the isochronic levels and other factors.  I do know...

MS. LEA:  Pardon me, sir, you are going to have to begin that answer again.  I'm sorry about that.

MR. BOLBROCK:  It's difficult to -- it would be speculation on my part.  But, you know, one could take a look at the isochronic levels in that region, and I don't know anything much about it, but I suspect that Thunder Bay was given that name for a reason.

MR. MAYERS:  If I might, we believe that a single lightning strike would not take out both parallel lines.  It may take out one.

MR. BOLBROCK:  I certainly agree with that.

MR. MAYERS:  It would take out the circuit on one, but it would not take out both circuits.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And that's your professional judgment, or were there any studies or analysis?

MR. MAYERS:  There is.  We've done studies on the isochronic levels in the particular area.  We are aware that there is some significant thunderstorms.  We have modelled the line itself and the actual location of those lightning strikes just to ensure that we've protected our design adequately.

It is not my professional opinion that something couldn't happen unusually, but a single lightning strike to a tower generally won't affect adjacent towers.

MR. ZACHER:  And Mr. Bolbrock, one more follow-up question.  I think Mr. Rubenstein touched on this this morning.  You in your report had referenced the fact that NPCC standards didn't favour quad towers, and I think you didn't have an opportunity to complete your answer to that question, but you'd said something to the effect that the standards weren't explicit but that there were some connection between what you'd excerpted in your report and your opinion, and I wonder if you could just explain that a little bit better.

MR. BOLBROCK:  Yes, just for a little background, I was chairman of the test -- the NPCC task force on coordination of planning, or TFCP, for about 15 years, and all during my -- most of my career I was involved in the various NPCC committees and task forces in differing roles.

The task force on coordination of planning, one of its responsibilities was to perform a triennial review of the criteria every three years, review of the criteria.  And the two big discussion points -- and we had a subcommittee, a sub-task force, if you will, that made recommendations, got input from the member systems, and the two biggest areas of discussion every time we did that was definition of bulk power system, or -- that is the -- what is the definition of the bulk power system?  But the other one was the applicability of special protection systems, or SPSs.

The five-tower criteria came about because, particularly with generating stations, especially those that are located on large bodies of water, there is usually just limited egress for transmission.  You -- there is no viable alternative for transmission, so the decision was made that five towers would be the limit, and that that would be granted an exclusion.

But beyond that, in all the years since then, special protection systems, even what I would call simple ones, but certainly ones much less complex than the northwest special protection systems, always got a lot of -- a lot of debate.  Many utilities just didn't want them because, among other reasons, they are complex, they can misoperate (sic), and the more of them there are, the greater the chance of some kind of inadvertent interaction between systems.  It would have a very, potentially, a very dramatic effect on the bulk power system.

MR. ZACHER:  So I think I understand that the related point on special protection systems, but just to be clear, because I want to make sure I didn't misunderstand your report, there is no NPCC standard that prohibits or otherwise recommends against four-circuit towers.  Do you agree with me?

MR. BOLBROCK:  Not explicitly.

MR. ZACHER:  You agree with me?

MR. BOLBROCK:  Not explicitly, but the -- in develop -- as we developed a review of these standards, I can tell you from my own personal experience over many years, quad-circuit towers weren't thought about.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.

MR. BOLBROCK:  And the reason they weren't thought about is -- I'll fundamentally -- I'll make it simple.  Who in their right mind would do that if they had a viable alternative?  That's my characterization of it.  So they weren't really discussed.

My understanding is now -- and because of this particular proceeding -- that NPCC is now going to take up discussion of how it might be desirable to amend the language of the criteria to be more explicit in dealing with quad-circuit towers --


MR. ZACHER:  Thank you, those are my questions.

MR. BOLBROCK:  -- or any other multiple-circuit towers.

MS. LEA:  Thanks, Mr. Zacher.

OEB Staff?
Questions by Mr. Lesychyn:

MR. LESYCHYN:  My questions are for Mr. Nickerson.

If we turn to NextBridge's additional materials that were filed on April 30th --


[Reporter appeals.]


MR. LESYCHYN:  Lesychyn.  Okay.  Mr. Nickerson, if we could turn to your memorandum that was part of NextBridge's additional materials filed on April 30th, attachment B, page 4.  And --


MR. NICKERSON:  Yes, sir.  Is it on?

MS. LEA:  Is the green light on?  That's the key.  Yeah, no.  Sounds like it is now.  You have to press the button and wait for a bit.

MR. NICKERSON:  Yes, oh, now we're on.  I'm usually not that soft.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Take a look at the one, two, three, fourth paragraph down, "with a single mast guyed structure".  In this paragraph you are talking about the failure of Hydro One's proposed quad structures within the park, and my question is, would NextBridge's proposed guyed double structure suffer from similar types of failure modes, given that they are going to be undergoing the same weather conditions?

MR. NICKERSON:  Well, I have not, you know, studied them in detail, but I did do an overall review for them on a totally separate time frame, and in my opinion, no, I mean, they are a whole different structure, as far as a failure mode, so I would say, no, they would not.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay:

"NextBridge's guyed double-circuit structures in other jurisdictions ever fail in longitudinal cascade, and please comment on the severity of the failures."

So --


MR. NICKERSON:  Absolutely.  Wisconsin lost, well, single-circuit.  H frame, 40-something miles.  Encore lost 40 miles of H frame.  There has definitely been, I think, an Iowa cascade failure for -- and there's been numbers of cascade failures, and that's the reason for trying to implement anti-cascade structures and stop structures --


MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.

MR. NICKERSON:  -- and anti-cascade loading conditions also.

MR. MAYERS:  Just to clarify, I believe you -- oh, sorry, Dan Mayers.  I believe you started the question off by saying "NextBridge"?

MR. LESYCHYN:  Yes, so I guess it would be -- I don't think they're -- are they owned by NextBridge, those, or is that Next --


MR. NICKERSON:  No, I'm sorry, no, I'm not aware of any NextBridge --


MR. MAYERS:  NextBridge has no towers to date.

MR. NICKERSON:  Right.  I thought you said in general.  No.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay, I repeat the question in general.

MR. NICKERSON:  Okay.  In general there are other failures.  NextBridge, I'm not aware of any failures, cascade failures.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  The memo from Robert E. Nickerson filed as part of NextBridge's additional materials states on page 5 that:
"Of additional concern is the impact to a guy from a falling tree which could result in failure to the tower."

Please explain whether NextBridge's proposed guyed double-circuit structures -- are they be subject to the same types of failures, would they be subject to the same type of failures?

MR. NICKERSON:  Actually, guyed masts like NextBridge is using, you could actually lose one conduct -- one guy system and the structure will still stand, and the reason is, is that the longitudinal strength of the conductor systems acts as span guys, and so the structure stays up.  That's happened before without any consequence.

Now, obviously if you have a 100-mile-an-hour wind at the same time then I can't guarantee that's going to happen, but under, let's say, in everyday condition there is a guy lost because of a tree or a tractor or whatever in a field, absolutely, that structure is easier to stay up.

In the case of other types of structures, if the guy is lost, and that's the point of support, if it's a free-standing structure then there is a whole different load path that changes.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Thank you.

If we turn to scheduling, and to go back to EB-2017-0182.  And this is the responses that NextBridge provided to interrogatories from CCC 1, so on page 1, if we could turn to that interrogatory response.

In this interrogatory response, you provided information on basically the in-service date and projected potential delays of the Board's approval.

Now, what I'd like to do is try to get an idea.  What would the impact be if the Board approved -- delayed approval until, let's say, August 31st, September 30th, or even October 31st of this year, given that you've already mentioned in the morning that your commencement construction date was, I think, November 2018.

So what I'm trying to do is get some sort of an idea of the sensitivity of the approval, and the impact it would have on the in-service date.

MR. MAYERS:  I think, as we've stated, there is marginal time that might be available for contingency.  But, you know, our intent would be to try and compact the schedule as best we could.

The impacts are for the leave to construct -- some of it has to do with expropriation and the need to have that as early as possible, so that we can get land, so that we can get access and/or rights to cross land with the construction and to keep it in a serial manner as we build from east to west.

MR. LESYCHYN:  So there is real know drop-dead date in 2018 prior to November 1st, you're saying?

MR. MAYERS:  Well, I think we would prefer to still have it in July so that we could initiate those activities as early as possible.  As you're aware, expropriation rights are they're difficult, and so the whole undertaking is quite difficult and there are variations in the time that it might take to actually complete that.

So the intent here would be to have as much time as possible.  I think the impact might be that we have to do some movement, our contractor -- if we didn't have the appropriate land rights, our contractor would have to do some moving, some skips as we described them previously.

MR. LESYCHYN:  How many months will the construction clearing take over the winter?  Is this a one winter construction activity, or two winters, or proceed from the winter right into the summer and spring?

MR. MAYERS:  I think that will be dependent upon the permitting requirements.  But our intent is to go into the -- we basically have the six areas and the caribou area that we have described in the past.

Our intent is to go into, I believe, five of the areas and do as much clearing as possible through the first winter to try to reduce our risk of being able to get in in the second winter.

So our intent is to have our contractor more or less, for lack of a better word, blitz the area and get as much clearing done as possible in the first winter.

MR. LESYCHYN:  So if you had a one-month delay, let's say you didn't start until, let's say, December or even into January, that's pretty significant in terms of timing?

MR. MAYERS:  From a timing perspective.  But, you know, we probably would sit with the contractor and talk about coordinating resources to -- if he needed to get additional resources in to try to make up that time, we would do everything in our power to try to maintain our schedule.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Is that possible, to compress -- to get more resources to be able to compress that time?

MR. MAYERS:  I believe so.  I can't speak for the contractor at this moment in time, but generally, if you give them enough advance notice, then we should be able to accommodate.

MR. LESYCHYN:  What month in 2019 does NextBridge intend to commence like the shovel in the ground.  If you going to do this clearing over the winter, when would the actual shovels in the ground...

MR. MAYERS:  You know, subject to check -- and I wish I had the schedule right in front of me, a more detailed schedule -- but it is not much after an area is cleared.

If you can kind of picture a -- we are going to do a lot of clearing at the same time, but basically the contractor is going to start in the east and he'll bring in his crews to go ahead.  To get into the site, he has to have access and all.  But once he actually clears, he will begin the foundation work that's necessary, geotechnical work and then the foundation work.

And right after that, we are literally finishing foundations and as soon as the foundations are ready, the contractor will bring in his -- the steel structures begin to show up in the first quarter of -- they are actually going to show up earlier than that.  They'll be staged and they will be stored and stocked, and then eventually the contractor will move them out on site.

So quite literally, you know, we are going to be into the first quarter of 2019 with shovels in the ground.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Thank you.
Questions by Mr. Murray:


MR. MURRAY:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Lawren Murray and I am counsel to OEB Staff.  I'd like to start our discussion here today by talking about NextBridge's environmental assessment.

For this, if I could ask you to pull up page 7 of the evidence that you filed on April 30th, and I am going to be reading from the second paragraph.
"Even if Hydro One were engaged in with MOE and MOECC in relation to finalizing regulatory measure to allow Hydro One to use portions of the environmental assessment work completed by NextBridge, a position which the ministries have both confirmed is not the case, the environmental assessment work completed belongs to NextBridge and is not available for use as contemplated by Hydro One without NextBridge's consent.  NextBridge is owner of the environmental assessment in the analysis and the data that underlies it."

Now, the first question I have is I wonder how that position being taken by NextBridge fits with -- how that position that the work is your property fits with what I understand to be NextBridge's position that it's going to be seeking to have all those studies paid for ultimately by the ratepayers as part of this application in 182?

MR. MAYERS:  I think NextBridge's position is that it is our intellectual property.

MR. MURRAY:  And that even though -- but correct me if I'm wrong, you are going to be seeking reimbursement for those amounts?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And in the event that ultimately another proponent was to be successful to build the line, NextBridge's position is that that proponent can't use any of the information that ratepayers pay for?

MR. MAYERS:  That's our position.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, taking a step back on the environmental assessment, my understanding is when you originally filed the leave to construct application in July of last year, you anticipated filing your environmental assessment in November or -- sorry, Q3 of 2017, and that you would receive approval by the second quarter of 2018.

Do I have that right, subject to check?

MR. MAYERS:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And ultimately, NextBridge didn't file its EA in November of 2017.  I believe it was February of 2018, and you are now projecting that the EA work -- the EA will be completed in early Q4 of 2018; is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, is there a way to pull up the MOECC's evidence?

 MS. LEA:  It will just take a moment.

 MR. MURRAY:  And if you could go to page 4, I'm going to start -- if you could scroll down a little bit further, and almost scroll just so it's kind of half on page 4 and half on page 5.

I'm going to be reading from the last paragraph on page 4:
"Once the MOECC review and consultation is completed and MOECC staff prepare a decision package for the Minister of Environment and Climate Change, it is anticipated that a decision package for NextBridge's East-West Tie line will be prepared for the Minister in the late fall of 2018."

And we'll clarify the record later when we talk to MOECC.  But when they're talking about preparing a decision package for the Minister in the late fall of 2018, that doesn't seem to be consistent or comply with your ultimate timeline to have a decision by October of 2018.

MR. MAYERS:  No, you're correct.  It is not the same time frame that we would have hoped.  However, we believe that we -- you know, if it gets to the Minister and with the approval of the Lieutenant Governor-in-Council who at this point has stated that the -- the in-service date is still December of 2020, we believe that we'll still be able to meet the date.

MR. MURRAY:  So it would be fair to say that it looks like that the EA won't be approved until late 2019, potentially -- sorry, late 2018, potentially early 2019; is that fair to say?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't know that that's fair to say.  I mean, you're speculating as to how long it's going to take for them to complete the approval process.

MR. MURRAY:  How long does NextBridge think it will take them to complete the approval process?

MR. MAYERS:  Hopefully a day, but it's probably unlikely.

MR. MURRAY:  I imagine the package that the Minister will seek will be quite voluminous, so I think a day might be a bit optimistic.

One question about the EA.  You can't start clearing the land until you get EA approval; is that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  But you are still confident that you will be able to complete the line for in-service by 2020?

MR. MAYERS:  We are.

MR. MURRAY:  And do you have any sort of drop-dead date in terms of if the EA wasn't completed by X date we would have trouble getting it in by 2020?

MR. MAYERS:  No, we have not speculated that.

MR. MURRAY:  But you must have some sense, like, for example, I believe a lot of the clearing has to take place in the winter; is that -- is the EA contingent on a lot of the clearing taking place in the winter?  No?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, it is preferable to work in the winter for --


MR. MURRAY:  But is it a condition of the EA or not?

MR. MAYERS:  It may be.

MR. MURRAY:  And so to the extent that you didn't start in the winter, that may delay things up to a year?  Would that be a fair...

MR. MAYERS:  It's possible.

MR. MURRAY:  One more question about the timing of the EA.  Does NextBridge have any reason to believe that any parties may file an appeal with the ERT or elsewhere for any EA decision?

MR. MAYERS:  Hopefully not.

MR. MURRAY:  Do you have any reason to believe -- has anyone told that you they may or anyone indicated that they oppose the line still?

MR. MAYERS:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. MURRAY:  So you are not aware of any line -- still opposing the construction of the line at this point on environmental grounds?

MR. MAYERS:  I am not.

MR. MURRAY:  Is NextBridge?

MR. MAYERS:  I can't speak to that.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Stevens, perhaps we could have an undertaking to the extent that there is anything further within NextBridge on this issue?

MR. STEVENS:  So the question is whether NextBridge is aware of any current opposition to its project that could be expected to result in an appeal of the EA approval?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we'll provide that.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That is Undertaking JT1.24.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.24:  TO ADVISE WHETHER NEXTBRIDGE IS AWARE OF ANY CURRENT OPPOSITION TO ITS PROJECT THAT COULD BE EXPECTED TO RESULT IN AN APPEAL OF THE EA APPROVAL.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, obviously the goal is to have the line in-service by the end of 2020.  But things sometime happen, things change.  I was wondering if you could tell me -- talk to me a little bit about the implications if the line is not in-service by 2020?

MR. MAYERS:  Well, obviously you may expect costs to increase, depending on how long the delay is.  We're hoping that any delays are short-term, but as you stated previously, there may be impacts to our ability to work in certain areas due to some of the tree-clearing limits.  You know, there may be some surveys.  There may be some re-surveys that have to be done.  But, yeah, I think that the cost potentially could increase, but, you know, we also have contingency money set aside in anticipation that there may be some cost overruns due to some delays.

MR. MURRAY:  And so the contingency, which I believe is around 49 million, that factors in a potential delay of the 2020 date?  That's included in the $49 million contingency?

MR. MAYERS:  There is no cost target on a delay, but there is money in there that, based on our current knowledge of where we stand in our estimate, that we're comfortable saying that we have some contingency available, so if we have a delay.  I mean, if you delay it a year, then, no, sir, the -- you know, we probably couldn't cover that.  If you delayed it six months, it's possible, but I can't speculate at this time because I don't know exactly the date and the time and the scenario and the impacts that we may be able to work out with the MNRF or the MOECC, if indeed there were some delays and we had some permitting conditions that we would try to work through.

MR. MURRAY:  And my understanding -- and you can correct me if I'm wrong -- it's the EPC contract is based on the assumption of a 2020 in-service date, and to the extent that the in-service date is sometime after 2020, there's price escalations that kick in; is that fair?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm not the contract expert, but I believe in our discussion last week that the answer is, yes, that there could be some price escalation depending on, again, the timing.

MR. MURRAY:  Is there any way -- I appreciate that you may not be able to nail down to kind of the exact dollar in terms of the cost of the delay, but can you give some sense in terms of the order of magnitude what we're looking at, if there was a six-month delay or if there was a one-year delay of the in-service date in terms of the costs that NextBridge would incur?

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, no, I honestly can't speculate at that time, because it would come down to negotiating with our contractor and trying to determine, you know, what the potential impacts are, you know, keeping in mind that, you know, the initial phase of this thing is clearing and the intent is to try to get in there as early as possible and in the winter so that we can minimize impacts, but that's probably a lower-cost portion of the contract as opposed to when we're getting the full-scale couple hundred guys out there and they're wrecking towers and pulling conductor, but we would have to determine -- if you said six months, we would have to probably take an undertaking to take a look at what the potential impact could be.  I can't answer that right now.

MR. MURRAY:  I'm mindful that there's already a number of undertakings, but I believe there was a similar undertaking asked as part of last week's technical conference in the 182, so to the extent that you have any information on this and could provide it before next week, that would be helpful.

MR. STEVENS:  If there is a similar undertaking we will look to see whether it can be filed in this proceeding before the motion, but we're not in a position to commit to any incremental analysis, given all of the work that's in front of us already.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  So --


MR. MURRAY:  Maybe we'll mark that as an undertaking just to --


MS. CRNOJACKI:  -- it is JT1.25.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.25:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF COSTS THAT NEXTBRIDGE WOULD INCUR FROM A DELAY OF SIX MONTHS OR ONE YEAR TO THE IN-SERVICE DATE.

MR. MURRAY:  And --


MS. CRNOJACKI:  Should I repeat it for the...

MR. MURRAY:  And I guess the other question I had is
-- I think this also came up last week.  There seems to be a bit of overlap in the technical conference for 182 and today.  My recollection is, is one of the panel last week seemed to indicate that it would be in the range of 3 percent or something for labour, and 2.8 percent for materials or something to that effect, because that was the escalation that had been used to quantify the delay costs up until this point.

So perhaps to the extent it's any different than that if you could let me know.

MR. STEVENS:  Again, if there is an undertaking being worked on in the other proceeding, we're happy to pass it along, but we're, I don't think, able to commit to doing extra analysis and evaluation beyond that.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, I'd like to now turn and talk a little bit about NextBridge's negotiations with the affected Indigenous communities.

I was wondering if you could let us know when you commenced your consultation or participation discussions with these communities?

MR. MAYERS:  I don't have exact dates.  I believe it was -- it could have been as early as 2013 and into 2014.

MR. MURRAY:  And would you have commenced your consultations in -- kind of participation discussions with all communities at the same time, or would it have been in kind of stages?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, I can't answer that question.

MR. MURRAY:  And is there any way by way of undertaking we could get a high-level kind of -- I don't need when each one was initially entered -- kind of started, but a general sense of the year when these discussions commenced?

MR. STEVENS:  We can provide an undertaking to indicate sort of in a general sense when consultations commenced and sort of what -- whether that was an ongoing process or whether it all started at once.

MR. MURRAY:  And are any of the --


MS. LEA:  Could we have an undertaking number for that?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Yes, that is JT1.26.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.26:  TO ADVISE WHEN NEXTBRIDGE COMMENCED ITS CONSULTATION OR PARTICIPATION DISCUSSIONS WITH INDIGENOUS COMMUNITIES.

MR. MURRAY:  And are any of those negotiations concluded?  Do we have signed, kind of final participation agreements with any of these groups at this point?

MR. STEVENS:  I believe we spoke earlier this morning about one that is concluded.  And I believe that there were questions taken under advisement to my friend Mr. Warren as to details about numbers and identities of other agreements.

So the information, if it can be made public, will be available through those though responses.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you advise me -- perhaps this is also under advisement, just to the extent other groups have the negotiations concluded?  Not necessarily what the final agreements is, but just are the negotiations concluded or are they ongoing?

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, are you distinguishing between situations where something -- are you trying to draw out a situation where negotiations are concluded, but there is not yet an agreement?

MR. MURRAY:  No.  I want to get a sense of, of these 18 groups who have reached a final agreement with NextBridge at this point, and to what extent some of these groups -- are there negotiations ongoing at this point.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, I understand.  If that is not included within the questions taken under advisement this morning, we will add it on the same basis.

MR. MURRAY:  And also on the undertaking --


MR. STEVENS:  Just to be clear, I'm not agreeing on behalf of NextBridge to answer those questions.  I'm agreeing to go and inquire whether NextBridge is agreeable and we'll provide an answer one way or another.

MR. MURRAY:  And to the extent that any negotiations aren't included to the extent it could also be part of the under advisement or undertaking, to advise as to when NextBridge anticipates the negotiations for those outstanding matters to be concluded.  If that could also be included in the undertaking/under advisement?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we can add that.

MS. LEA:  That is all under JT1.26?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That may be JT1.27.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.27:  NEXTBRIDGE TO INQUIRE AND ADVISE, OF THE 18 GROUPS WHO COME TO AGREEMENTS WITH NEXTBRIDGE, HOW MANY NEGOTIATIONS ARE ONGOING AT THIS POINT

MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask you to turn to page 15 of NextBridge's evidence, I'm going to read from the final paragraph:
"In NextBridge's experience, it is unrealistic to meaningfully engage and negotiate economic participation in relation to a new project with eighteen first and Métis groups within the timelines proposed by Hydro One."


Now, obviously NextBridge has gone through this process of the negotiations and based upon that experience, I'd be interested in the panel's opinion as to how long they feel is necessary to go through meaningful participation and negotiation.

MR. STEVENS:  Again, having heard Mr. Mayers' response is that he's not sort of at the centre of this part of the activity, I think that is a question that would be better taken way, if that's okay with you, and answered in writing. 
MR. MURRAY:  That's fine.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be JT1.28.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.28:  (1) TO ADVISE NEXTBRIDGE'S OPINION AS TO HOW LONG IT FEELS IT IS NECESSARY TO GO THROUGH MEANINGFUL PARTICIPATION AND NEGOTIATION; (2) TO ADVISE WHETHER NEXTBRIDGE IS AWARE OF ANY OTHER BARRIERS TO HYDRO ONE COMPLETING THE NECESSARY CONSULTATION AND PARTICIPATION WITH AFFECTED INDIGENOUS GROUPS


MR. MURRAY:  Obviously the issue of time has been raised by NextBridge in terms of the Hydro One application and issues as to whether or not they can fulfill meaningful consultation and participation.

Other than the time issue, is NextBridge aware of any other barriers to Hydro One completing the necessary consultation and participation with the affected Indigenous groups?

MR. STEVENS:  I think we can make that part of the JT1.28.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT1.28.

MR. MURRAY:  And perhaps just so we're focussed, earlier today we heard from the BLP chiefs in terms of their understanding and exclusivity agreement that exists between them and NextBridge and it prevents, in their view, Hydro One from speaking with them and proposing terms to them, in terms of potential participation.

Is it NextBridge's position that the exclusivity provisions in these agreements, which we understand haven't been produced to date -- is in NextBridge's position that they prevent Hydro One from raising proposals with these First Nations?

MR. STEVENS:  Again, we'll respond to that in writing.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  It will be JT1.19 (sic).

MR. MURRAY:  And I believe this may have already been covered by previous questioners about exclusivity arrangements or similar matters, but to the extent they aren't, we would ask that you take under advisement providing details of both when the exclusivity arrangements or similar type arrangements were entered into, and when those provisions lapse.

MR. STEVENS:  We will take that under advisement, and we can answer that along with the other questions about -- or not answer that along with the other questions about the exclusivity provisions.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT1.29.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.29A:  TO ADVISE NEXTBRIDGE'S POSITION ON THE EXCLUSIVITY PROVISIONS AND WHETHER THEY PREVENT HYDRO ONE FROM RAISING PROPOSALS WITH THE FIRST NATIONS


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, those are all Staff's questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Any other questions from any party for this panel?

Thank you very much for your diligence today and for answering the questions, and we'll stand this panel down.

I see it is three o'clock.  Mr. Henderson and Chief Sears, are you on the line?

I think what we'll do is we'll take our afternoon break now, and we'll return at 3:15.  Mr. Henderson, if you could ensure that your witness is available and if he is not, we'll proceed with the Ministry of Energy and Climate Change witnesses.  But I believe your witness will be available.  He said he was going to be.  We will stand down now until 3:15.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:02 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:17 p.m.

MS. LEA:  Sorry to be late.  Oops.

Sorry to be late.  We're reconvening.  Mr. Henderson and Chief Sayers, are you there?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, we are.

CHIEF SAYERS:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Great.  I think, Mr. Warren, Batchewana First Nations, you have some questions for them.
BATCHEWANA FIRST NATION OF OJIBWAYS - PANEL 1

Dan Sayers
Questions by Mr. Warren:

 MR. WARREN:  Yes, Chief Sayers, my name is Robert Warren.  I am counsel for Hydro One Networks in this matter.  Can you hear me?


CHIEF SAYERS:  Yes, I can.

 MR. WARREN:  I have just three or four questions for you, Chief Sayers.

The first is, do I understand the affidavit you filed that you do not yet have a completed agreement with NextBridge with respect to participation in their development; is that right?

CHIEF SAYERS:  We're close.  Maybe Bill could expand a little more.  Bill is my legal counsel [audio dropout] he's there.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, the Chief's affidavit anticipates a conclusion of an agreement by early July.

CHIEF SAYERS:  Yes.

 MR. WARREN:  And without telling me the details of it, is it an economic participation agreement?

CHIEF SAYERS:  Yes, we have an expectation with a lot of the proponents within our territory, and there is always an economic flavour to it.  Yes, I guess I could safely say that.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, we not be saying much more, Mr. Warren.

 MR. WARREN:  Does -- do you have, Chief Sayers, an exclusivity agreement with NextBridge?

CHIEF SAYERS:  A what kind of agreement?

 MR. WARREN:  An exclusivity agreement, an agreement that requires you to deal only with NextBridge and with no one else?

CHIEF SAYERS:  I don't think so.  That word has never come up at the tables I've been at.

 MR. WARREN:  Do you, at any -- at this point, have any form of agreement with NextBridge?

CHIEF SAYERS:  We are close to the agreement.  I'm not sure if there's -- am I missing something, Bill?

MR. HENDERSON:  No, there is the expectation of an agreement being --


CHIEF SAYERS:  Yeah.

MR. HENDERSON:  -- completed in the next several weeks, and there is no other agreement in place.

 MR. WARREN:  And my question, Chief Sayers, to you is this:  Is the position of the Batchewana First Nation that it will not under any circumstances deal with Hydro One Networks with respect to consultation or entering into a participation agreement?

CHIEF SAYERS:  The First Nation has a historic inherited obligation to protect the entire territory that was set out in my affidavit, and we are open for relationship development with whomever.  We don't have a closed-door policy.  I can't see why we wouldn't have any further relationship with anybody else.

 MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much, Chief Sayers.  I appreciate your time.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  I think the OEB staff have some question for you, Chief Sayers.
Questions by Ms. Crnojacki:

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Good afternoon, this is Zora Crnojacki.  I will ask you just several questions regarding your consultation with Hydro One and some maybe questions to expand on what you put in your affidavit of evidence.

We would like to ask you about the status and timing of Batchewana First Nation communication with Hydro One regarding Lake Superior Link project to date.

CHIEF SAYERS:  Okay.  So I'm not sure specifically what you mean.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  I mean, was there any communication initiated by Hydro One regarding consultation about Lake Superior Link proposed project?

CHIEF SAYERS:  There was a letter that was sent more recently.  It was after we sent the affidavit in.  There was a letter in the mail that I hadn't seen.  It was the fourth, I think, or something like that.  But, yeah, there was nothing at the time when I created my affidavit.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.

CHIEF SAYERS:  Unless my recollection is not correct, but I'm pretty sure that is the case.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you --


MR. HENDERSON:  Perhaps I can assist.  There is communication from Hydro One dated March the 5th in relation to the environmental assessment of the expansion of the Marathon transformer station, which was basically information that it had been filed during the notice period, and there was a letter of invitation to consult dated April the 30th that was stamped as received in the Batchewana First Nation offices on May the 4th.

CHIEF SAYERS:  Yes [audio dropout]


[Reporter appeals.]


MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, as the Chief said, he hadn't seen it when he swore his affidavit on April -- May the 7th.

CHIEF SAYERS:  Yeah, that was just recently, just in the last couple weeks.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Okay, thank you very much.

In your evidence you raised a number of concerns with respect to Hydro One meeting [audio dropout] consult.

MR. HENDERSON:  I'm sorry, there was a noise there.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That's okay.  I will repeat the question.  I will start over.

We know that your evidence raises a number of concerns about Hydro One's ability to meet its duty to consult regarding Lake Superior Link project.

In your view, is there a way that Hydro One can meet its duty to consult if its application is not dismissed by the OEB and if it is heard -- continued to be heard by the Board?

CHIEF SAYERS:  In my own perspective, when we have other proponents, it takes, like, months, if not, like, half a year to a year to go through our rigorous process as a government that we have for consideration of any project.  It is highly unlikely that there would be an expedited process, and I'm not even sure what the expedited process would look like, what that means.  Like, is there a time line that you are talking about?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Can you maybe give us some estimate of what -- you just mentioned it is difficult to give a reasonable time frame for the duty to consult discharged by Hydro One, but what would be your best -- best guess or best estimate?

CHIEF SAYERS:  We have -- as a First Nation we set the bar a little higher, as far as engagement with proponents are concerned, and we reserve the right, as per Canada [audio dropout] informed consent.  In order to get that we have our own onerous environmental assessment process.  We also have a permitting process where it allows us to be more definitive in what we expect to see in the work that happens to give consideration to allowing a proponent to move forward with their proposal, so we do flora and fauna assessments, we do sacred site assessments, we have elders out on the land, we have pipe ceremonies, we have different cultural events, we do sacred burial mound assessments, we do a really expensive listing of our onerous environmental assessment process.  We have community meetings in our four -- our three communities, Rankin, Batchewana, Goulais, and Sault Ste. Marie.  So there's four communities that we have advance notice of so people can plan so they can come and they can hear about the information, they can hear about the project and provide their thoughts on it.

We also work with elders in a particular area that know about whether or not there is moose in the area, whether there is herds in the area, whether there are different fish in a particular area, medicine assessments.  It is an extensive process that you can't just do it in two days.  Like, we've got to give it -- like we really should have a little bit of engagement and work in every season of the year.  So to do a good one, it would probably take a year, maybe longer.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you very much.  And my final question would be: If you could please describe for us any impact on your communities if to the 2020 project in-service is delayed?

CHIEF SAYERS:  Sorry, I don't follow that question.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  NextBridge's proposed in-service date is 2020, and the question we have is what impact on your communities do you anticipate if this 2020 in-service date is delayed beyond the proposed date.

CHIEF SAYERS:  I would say employment and training.  There would be employment opportunities missed.

We, as a people, also have our own visioning processes, our own strategic plans around the entire territory and how we see that evolving.

I can't really go into depth as to what the finer details of our in-house internal planning process looks like.  But we are, as you may be aware, involved extensively in energy, and this may have some impact on our plans around our strategy with regards to energy.  But I can't be any more definitive than that at this time.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  These are all my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much, Mr. Henderson and Chief Sayers.  We really appreciate you taking the time to be with us today, and thanks very much for the answers to the questions you've given.

CHIEF SAYERS:  Thank you very much.

MS. LEA:  Mr. Adamson, if your witnesses could step forward.  Just while this panel is taking its seats, I unfortunately have an unavoidable conflict at 4:00.  So I'm going to leave the room at 4:00, no disrespect to anybody's witnesses or anybody's questions.  That's just the way it is for me today.

And I just wanted to remind you that we are starting at 9:00 a.m. tomorrow in order to attempt to get through before 6:00 o'clock tomorrow night.

Let's all work towards that very laudable goal, all right.  Thanks very much.

Mr. Adamson, if you could introduce your witnesses, that would be great, thank you.

 MR. ADAMSON:  The Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change's witnesses are Anna Maria Cross, who is the manager of the Ministry's environmental assessment service section of the environmental assessment permissions branch, and has been since November of 2012.  And Andrew Evers, who is a supervisor with the same environmental assessment services section of the environmental assessment and permissions branch, where he has been since March 2013.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much for coming here today.  Mr. Rubenstein, I think you are up first.
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Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel. I have a couple of questions for you.

If we could turn to your evidence, attachment number 1, this is the environmental assessment process timeline.  Do you see that?

I was wondering if you could show me on this table where Hydro One's project is currently.  What box would they be in?

MR. EVERS:  So we are in between the government and public review of Hydro One's project.  They have just submitted a notice of commencement for terms of reference.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So this is the first box?

MR. EVERS:  Yes, a draft notice of commencement for the terms of reference.  So they haven't quite initiated the process yet.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So this is -- we're not even in the box as yet?

MS. CROSS:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that they provide you with a draft notice, which you approve or don't approve?

MR. EVERS:  We would review, provide comments and send back to the proponent, and those comments they would implement before issuing the notice of commencement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Now, with respect to NextBridge's project, where would they be on this?

MR. EVERS:  NextBridge is between the government and public review of the EA, and notice of completion of the Ministry review of the EA.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So does that...

MR. EVERS:  So between the seven weeks and the five week period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So do I take that as they have -- they have yet to receive their notice of completion of Ministry review of EA.

MR. EVERS:  That's correct, so we are currently working on the ministerial review for the NextBridge project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I was wondering if you have Hydro One's evidence in front of you, and if I could ask you to turn to page 23 of their evidence.

Before it comes up, let me just sort of step back. As I understand, there are essentially two routes for Hydro One.  One this they can go through the normal environmental assessment process, and that's the table we looked at.  Or the second is they may seek an exemption order which, as I understand it, is an order from the Lieutenant Governor-In-Council -- Cabinet, essentially --  exempting them from the environmental assessment process if they believe the project is in the public interest.  Do I have that correct?

MR. EVERS:  Yes.  So the two processes are the individual environmental assessment process, or they could seek a declaration order, which is correct.  The declaration order would exempt all or some of the requirements under the Environmental Assessment Act, but may also impose additional conditions that they would have to follow.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we take a look at Hydro One's evidence here, reading about halfway down there first paragraph under section G, they say:
"If no exemptions such as a declaration order is obtained despite the significant cost savings to ratepayers and the improved environmental footprint, Hydro One has the option of undertaking the individual EA.  Based on a review of the existing term of reference, the scope would be applicable to the LSL proposed route.  However, approval from MOECC to use the existing terms of reference would be required."

And I understand the existing terms of reference to be the NextBridge terms of reference.  Is that your understanding as well?

MR. EVERS:  That is our understanding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I know you can't speak to the Specifics, since obviously nothing is before you yet.  But just conceptually, has such a thing ever happened where one proponent uses another proponent's approved terms of reference?

MR. EVERS:  Not that I'm aware of, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about exemption orders, or declaration orders that exempt from you the environmental assessment process.

Has an exemption -- has a declaration order granting exemption, in whole or in part, ever been sought for an electricity transmission project that you're aware of?

MR. EVERS:  Not that I'm aware of, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you.  Over the -- you may have to undertake to provide this information if you don't know.  But over the last ten years, how many exemption orders have been sought?

MS. CROSS:  I can tell you in the last five there has only been two that have been sought and received.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And how many have been granted?

MS. CROSS:  Those two were granted.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So all those who have sought have been granted?

MS. CROSS:  Yes, they were emergency situations, one dealing with sewage treatment and the other one dealing with the drinking-water well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so there have been no non-emergency declarations sought?

MS. CROSS:  In the last five years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide that information for, say, the last ten years?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That's an undertaking?  Is that an undertaking?

MS. LEA:  We're finding out.

MR. ADAMSON:  Yeah, I'm not certain if we have it readily available, but certainly we will do our best to provide that information.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just to clarify the information, how many have been sought, how many have been granted, and if they have been granted that are beyond -- well, if they have been granted, which ones are they?

MS. CROSS:  This information is all on our website, in terms of those that have been granted, so that is publicly available information.  It may take us some time to pull together what has been sought in the last ten years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, and if maybe -- they are on the website, but if you can --


MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- at least tell us as well which ones -- and I know this probably doesn't have a precise definition, but when -- that you use the term "emergency" for the last two.  I don't know if that's a technical term or not, but how many would broadly be in the same category if they had been granted if they're -- all right.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That's an Undertaking JT1.30.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.30:  TO ADVISE HOW MANY declarations or EXEMPTION ORDERS HAVE BEEN SOUGHT, HOW MANY HAVE BEEN GRANTED; AND IF THEY HAVE BEEN GRANTED, WHICH ONES ARE THEY.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Ms. Strachan?
Questions by Ms. Strachan:

MS. STRACHAN:  Good afternoon, panel.  Once again, I'm Megan Strachan, and I am counsel for the Métis Nation of Ontario, or the MNO.

So I also have some questions related to how a declaration order or an exemption might work if they were used in this situation.

And so could a declaration order allow Hydro One to use NextBridge's environmental assessment work instead of completing its own work?

MR. EVERS:  At this point we can't comment, because we are still reviewing the NextBridge environmental assessment, so the Minister hasn't made a decision on that document, so we can't speculate if it would be permissible.

MS. STRACHAN:  Sure.  I mean, if we sort of assume that NextBridge's EA is complete and we also assume that the MOECC is, you know, issuing some sort of regulatory exemption or declaration order to Hydro One, is it possible that that would allow Hydro One to use NextBridge's environmental assessment work?  I just, I don't know how declaration orders work, so I'm just kind of trying to, like, play it forward in my head to see how this could actually shake out.

MR. EVERS:  It could be a possibility, but it's not our decision to make, so declaration orders are a decision from the Minister and with Cabinet concurrence, so it wouldn't be our decision to make.

MS. CROSS:  Maybe I can just add that the decision before the Minister and then Cabinet is around a specific preferred undertaking.  Hydro One has told us that they plan to have a different project that goes through the park.  The environmental impacts of that have not yet been studied.

MS. STRACHAN:  So regardless, these environmental impacts would have to be studied, but it's possible that a declaration order could be issued around the sections of the line that are not in the park?

MR. EVERS:  It's a possibility.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.

MS. CROSS:  It's a Cabinet decision.

MR. EVERS:  It is a Cabinet decision, though, yeah.

MS. STRACHAN:  So on that same note, again, recognizing that this won't be the MOECC's decision, ultimately, but just trying to understand, part of NextBridge's environmental assessment is public, there is a publicly available document, but underlying that publicly available document are all kinds of confidential traditional land-use studies and the data that underlies those studies, and if there was a declaration order issued that allowed Hydro One to use NextBridge's environmental assessment, do you know if it's possible that that declaration order would just apply to publicly available information, or is it possible that somehow through a declaration order NextBridge could be forced to disclose confidential traditional land-use studies?

MR. EVERS:  Not quite sure, but in this particular situation, if the Indigenous communities or Métis communities required the proponent to undertake traditional knowledge studies, we require proponents to integrate traditional knowledge studies in their environmental assessment, but the discussions on how those studies are undertaken or collected by the proponent are between the proponent and the Indigenous communities or the Métis communities, so I can't presuppose what would be in a declaration order, but there would likely be some conditions around consultation, Indigenous consultation, Métis consultation, in it.

MS. STRACHAN:  And I recognize you're speculating, but do you assume that those conditions would require Hydro One to go out and conduct new consultation not to appropriate the confidential results of NextBridge's consultation efforts?

MR. EVERS:  NextBridge -- we would require -- so Hydro One would not be able to use NextBridge's consultation record.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.

MR. EVERS:  Yeah.

MS. CROSS:  Sorry, can I just add on that?  In terms of a declaration order, that would put requirements on the proponent.  In this case it would be Hydro One.  It wouldn't put requirements on the First Nations to disclose certain information that they had put forward to another proponent, so it's only requirements on Hydro One, and the decision in term of making the declaration order, consultation would be required on that as well, so there would be an opportunity for communities to provide their input in terms of that declaration order, should it be sought and should it be considered by the government.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you, that's very helpful.

I have a few more questions now related to the duty to consult.  And again, recognizing that you may or may not be able to speak to these.

So I understand that on March the 2nd, 2018, through a letter, Ontario delegated certain procedural aspects of consultation on the Lake Superior Link to Hydro One.

Are you familiar with that letter?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And in that letter there was a list of 18 Indigenous communities, and are you aware of Ontario at that time providing any information on the depth of consultation that Ontario thought was required for any of those communities?

MR. EVERS:  Sorry, can you repeat the question to provide some clarity?

MS. STRACHAN:  Sure, so in that letter there's 18 communities listed in alphabetical order, I think.

MR. EVERS:  Yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And I read that letter and I just see a list of communities.  There is no indication from Ontario as to the strength of any of those communities' rights or claims or sort of the level of consultation along the spectrum that Ontario would expect Hydro One to undertake, and I'm just wondering, are you aware of any information that's been provided to Hydro One around what the depth of consultation is that should be undertaken with those communities?

MR. EVERS:  Not at this point, no.

MS. STRACHAN:  And I further understand -- and this is referenced in that March 2nd letter -- that the Crown has an MOU with Hydro One, regarding Hydro One's roles and responsibilities in relation to discharging procedural aspects of consultation in relation to the Lake Superior Link project; is that correct?

MS. CROSS:  So that is something that the Ministry of Energy actually has with Hydro One.  We are not party to that agreement.  We refer in that letter, Ministry of Energy added in that letter that what's outlined in our guidance material in terms of requirements around consultation during the environmental assessment process is what should be followed for the environmental assessment process.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.

And are you familiar -- and this was filed at attachment 12 of Hydro One's additional evidence -- are you familiar with a letter that was written to Kate Kempton, who is counsel to the BLP First Nations, dated April 12th, 2018?  Have you had a chance to read that letter?

MR. EVERS:  Just looking for it now.

MS. STRACHAN:  Yeah, no worries.  My question pertains specifically to the second page.

On page 2 of that letter, Hydro One states that it will be engaging with Métis communities that are, quote, "less directly affected" by the Lake Superior link project.

And so when I read that statement, I read it as saying that Hydro One has made an assessment about Métis rights, and how they might be affected by the Lake Superior link.

And would you agree that that statement signals that Hydro One has made a determination about potential impacts to Métis communities from the project?

MS. CROSS:  I don't think we can speak to what Hydro One was intending in terms of that letter.

MS. STRACHAN:  Recognizing that you are not the guiding mind at Hydro One, just on the face of the language in that letter where it says that it will be engaging with communities that are less directly affected, would you agree that the language of "less directly affected" signals that Hydro One has made some kind of a determination about how Métis communities will be affected?

MS. CROSS:  I can't speculate.  I can tell you in terms of the environmental assessment process, the 18 communities that were named in that delegation letter all received the same treatment.  They all received the same notification and opportunities to provide input into the consultation process.

MS. STRACHAN:  They received the same opportunities from the MOECC, not from Hydro One?

MS. CROSS:  Our expectation would be that the proponent would send the same notices and same communications to all communities, and provide opportunities for input to all communities.

MS. STRACHAN:  And is it your understanding that that is what Hydro One has done to this point?

MS. CROSS:  I can't speculate as to what Hydro One has done.  I'm not aware of all the meetings that they have had and conversations that they have had with communities on this project.

MS. STRACHAN:  So a lot of that information has been filed by various parties in evidence here.  And in the MNO's written evidence, they have filed the first communication that they received from Hydro One on this project, which was actually dated April 30th, 2018, which was two weeks after this letter was sent where Hydro One, in my opinion, does appear to draw some kind of conclusion about impacts to Métis rights from the project.

And so is that consistent with what you've just stated, in terms of your expectation that proponents will engage with Indigenous communities equally?

MS. CROSS:  Yes, it is our expectation that they would treat all communities the same in terms of consultation during the environmental assessment process.

MS. STRACHAN:  Okay.  I guess what I'm asking is more specifically -- given the timeline that has been set out in Hydro One's evidence and the evidence of some of the intervenors that we've heard today, it appears that Hydro One began its engagement with First Nations on February the 16th, 2018, and then had subsequent meetings with those First Nations, including sending this letter where it talks about Métis rights as being less directly affected.  And this letter was sent two weeks before Hydro One had made any contact with the Métis Nation at all.

So I am just wondering if that timeline is consistent with your expectation that Hydro One treat all Indigenous communities in the same way.

MS. CROSS:  At this point, Hydro One has not finalized its notice of commencement to begin the terms of reference.  So at this point, they are not in the EA process.

We would obviously, as part of the EA process, want to ensure that all communities have had an opportunity to participate in the process, and we would see that through the record of consultation that's submitted as part of the terms of reference.

MS. STRACHAN:  Just give me a moment here.  I am going to see if I have any further questions.

I do have one final question, and I recognize that you may not be able to speak to this.  But you are the only representatives of the Crown that we have before us, so you are the only ones that I can really direct my questions to.

And I'm just wondering do you know what Ontario -- or I guess would be the Ministry of Energy, but you may know from our own experience with the MOECC.

Do you know what happens if Hydro One does not carry out the obligations that were delegated to it in the MOU with the Ministry of Energy?

We don't have a copy of that MOU; I don't think it is in evidence here.  So I'm wondering if you are aware of what steps Ontario might take if that MOU is breached.

MR. EVERS:  I'm not quite sure about that answer, but certainly if there is some inadequacies with consultation, the Ministry would do some of their own consultation, especially when the final terms of reference is submitted or the final environmental assessment is submitted.

So during that process, it is with us, so we would reach out to the communities and do some of our own consultation on the project, if we feel that some of the procedural aspects of consultation haven't been met.

MS. STRACHAN:  And so you would expect that likely the Ministry of Energy would have a similar practice?

MS. CROSS:  The Ministry of Energy is not a regulatory Ministry.  So we actually have a decision that would be before us should Hydro One continue with the individual EA or seek a declaration order.  So I can't speak to Ministry of Energy and what they might do.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Esquega, are you still on the line?

MS. MacDONALD:  This is Molly McDonald.  I will be asking questions on behalf of BZA.

MS. LEA:  Please go ahead, Ms. McDonald.
Questions by Ms. MacDonald:


MS. MacDONALD:  I guess, first of all I'd like to follow-up on Ms. Strachan's last question.  I am wondering if MOECC has a copy of the MOU between the Minister of Energy and Hydro One?

MR. EVERS:  We likely do, yes.

MS. MacDONALD:  Could we get an undertaking to have that provided?

MR. ADAMSON:  I don't know if there is any confidentiality that attaches to it.  But assuming that there is not, yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  This is undertaking JT1.31, NextBridge to provide --


MS. LEA:  MOECC.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  I'm sorry, MOECC to provide a copy of understanding with the Ministry of Energy; is that correct?

MR. ADAMSON:  Assuming there is not any confidentiality that attaches to it, yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Assuming there is no confidentiality restraint.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.31:  ASSUMING NO CONFIDENTIALITY RESTRAINT, MOECC TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE MOU BETWEEN THE MINISTRY OF ENERGY AND HYDRO ONE

MS. MacDONALD:  I'll move on.  My next questions are a little bit more high-level.  But I just to confirm -- and we've sort of gone through these already through the questioning, but I just want to confirm that DZA is a band that requires consultation with respect to the Lake Superior project, correct?

MS. CROSS:  That's correct.

MS. MacDONALD:  And I'm just wondering if anyone -- if any of the panelists from MOECC are familiar with the location of our client's community, or its location with respect to the proposed route.

MR. EVERS:  The location of BZA?  Approximately 160 kilometres southwest of Thunder Bay.

MS. MacDONALD:  Okay, that's not where we would place it, but we can deal with that, I guess, later in the questioning.

MR. ADAMSON:  I think the witness may have misspoke.  I think he said southwest; I think he meant northwest.

MR. EVERS:  Northwest, yes.

MS. MacDONALD:  And do you have any concept of where that is in relation to Nipigon, which would be, by our estimate, the closest municipality along the proposed route?

MR. EVERS:  Lake Nipigon?  It's the community, I believe, if I don't misspeak again, that's southwest of Lake Nipigon.

MS. MacDONALD:  Okay.  The municipality of Nipigon, like the City of Nipigon?  Not the lake.

MR. EVERS:  Oh, okay.  No.

MS. MacDONALD:  Okay.  Is it fair for you to say, though, that the community itself is still relatively close or very close to the project for Nipigon?

MS. CROSS:  The community has been put on the list of communities to be consulted with, given its proximity to the project, so, yes, I think that's a fair statement.

MS. MACDONALD:  Okay, thank you.

And this I believe was also addressed by Ms. Strachan, but Hydro One has been delegated the procedural aspects of consultation with respect to the affected First Nation/Métis communities; that's correct?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MR. EVERS:  Yep.

MS. MACDONALD:  Okay, so on pages 2 and 3 of the Ministry of Environment's evidence, you discussed Hydro One's options either have to complete its own EA or again to the option of seeking the declaration order to avoid having to go through the process, so we have touched on it, but I just want to confirm again that those are sort of the two possible options for Hydro One; correct?

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MS. CROSS:  Yes, they are required to complete an individual EA.  That's the requirement under the Act, but they can choose to pursue some sort of exemption, but ultimately that will be a decision of our Minister and Cabinet.

MS. MACDONALD:  Right.  Okay.  So hypothetically, if Hydro One does seek a declaration order and does propose to go down that avenue instead of the seeking to undertake the environmental assessment, they would still have the obligation or the MOECC would still have to undertake for consultation with the affected First Nation communities; is that correct?

MR. EVERS:  Are you looking for the process for the declaration order in general?

MS. MACDONALD:  I suppose so.  I just want to confirm that if a declaration order, if that's how Hydro One, I guess, gets through the MOECC's process, that even through the declaration order there still is a requirement for consultation with affected First Nations and Métis communities.

MR. EVERS:  Yes, so with the request for a declaration order they would likely submit any consultation that occurred.  We would do our own consultation with affected Indigenous communities, and then once a draft declaration order was completed it would be posted on the Environmental Registry of Ontario, likely for a 45- or more-day period for comment, and Indigenous communities would also have that opportunity to comment during that period as well.

MS. MACDONALD:  Oh, okay.  Thank you.

So consultation with BZA would still be required through -- you know, if a declaration order were sought?  Correct?

MR. EVERS:  That's right.

MS. MACDONALD:  Okay.  Thank you.

I just want to confirm -- I don't know if you can answer this, but has Hydro One made a request for a declaration order since the evidence has been filed?

MR. EVERS:  No, they have not.

MS. MACDONALD:  Okay, and those are all our questions.  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.

OEB Staff.
Questions by Mr. Murray:

MR. MURRAY:  Good afternoon, panel, my name is Lawren Murray.  I am counsel to OEB Staff.  I have a few questions for you here today.

I'd like to start our discussion by talking about a declaratory order.  Now, I understand a declaratory order, broadly speaking, can be granted if it's in the public interest.

Are there any more specific criteria that apply to such an order and when it would be considered or grafted?

MR. EVERS:  There are generally four criteria, so it can meet any one of those four, but the first is an emergency situation, if it is in the public interest, if the potential effects are minimal, or if the potential effects can be easily mitigated.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, putting aside the emergency, number one, are there any more sub-criteria for numbers two through four, or is it just those criteria?

MR. EVERS:  We would -- with the request, if they submitted the information, whatever information they submitted with the declaration order we would review as part of that review, and if there's additional information that's required, we request that from the proponent to supplement that review.

MR. MURRAY:  And assuming this request was made, can you give me a sense of how long it usually takes to kind of -- from requesting a declaratory order to getting it, how long would it take?

MS. CROSS:  It varies.  Emergency situations, obviously those are prioritized, and we work quickly to try to review the information and make a recommendation to the Minister, and then ultimately Cabinet would need to also approve.

In terms of the other reasons, you know, it could take anywhere from six to nine months.  It depends on what kind of information is before us.  We need to have grounds to bring forward the declaration order for the Minister's consideration, so it really is project-dependent.

Consultation, as Andrew mentioned earlier, consultation with the public on the environmental registry, as well as direct consultation with potentially-impacted Aboriginal communities.  That also takes time, so it really would depend on the project and the level of interest and those who might want to participate in the process.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.

And I understand most people have been talking about declaratory order, but I understood from your evidence that there is a second mechanism that might be very similar called an exempting regulation.  I was wondering if you could talk about that.

MR. EVERS:  Exemption regulation is very similar.  It is a regulation that would, again, exempt them from certain portions of the act or all requirements from the environmental assessment.

MR. MURRAY:  And so I guess my questions are sort of similar to what I just asked you:  Is there any specific criteria for an exempting regulation, or would it be the same sort of as a declaratory order?

MR. EVERS:  It would likely be the same, yeah.

MR. MURRAY:  And in terms of how long the process would take, are we looking at the same sort of time frame, six to nine months, though it may depend upon...

MS. CROSS:  Yes, consultation would be required as well, and we would need to assess the supporting information that's provided by the applicant requesting the exemption.

MR. MURRAY:  And I understand a question to Mr. Rubenstein earlier, you indicated there had been two declaratory orders in the last five years.  Have there been any exempting regulations during that period?

MS. CROSS:  No.

MR. MURRAY:  No?  And over the last ten years have there been any?

MS. CROSS:  I can't speak to the last ten years.  We'd have to look into that.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps if you could provide an undertaking to advise if there have been.

MR. ADAMSON:  We can provide that undertaking, yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be JT1.32, for MOECC to provide information on any exemptions, orders, regulations granted within the last ten years.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.32:  FOR MOECC TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ON ANY EXEMPTIONS, ORDERS, REGULATIONS GRANTED WITHIN THE LAST TEN YEARS; TO LOOK INTO ANY REGULATIONS THAT HAVE BEEN REQUESTED BY PROPONENTS


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can just add, with respect to that undertaking, I was wondering if Mr. Murray agrees, if you can not just provide if any regulations, I guess, have been passed exempting, but if any have been requested by proponents.

MR. ADAMSON:  I'm guessing that may be impossible to get that information together.  I don't even know if it exists, but we'll certainly undertake to look into it.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.

And am I understanding from in your evidence is that, be it the declaratory order and exempting regulation, in either case, Hydro One can't really apply for it until the NextBridge EA is complete?  Is that a correct understanding?

MR. EVERS:  No, they can apply or request a declaration order or an exemption regulation, but from our understanding in the meetings that we've participated in with Hydro One is that their request would be on the basis of using NextBridge's EA.

MR. MURRAY:  And so assuming that's the case, you wouldn't -- the Ministry wouldn't likely be in a position to kind of consider that declaratory order exempting regulation until the NextBridge EA is completed.

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.  We'd have to wait for a decision on the Minister's -- or a Minister's decision on the undertaking.

MR. MURRAY:  So, now, taking a step back and going back to the normal EA process, assuming Hydro One was to file their notice of commencement of the terms of reference tomorrow, can you give me a -- I realize it will vary depending on the nature of the project.  Can you give me some sort of idea of how long it would take for that to wind its way to a decision, ultimately?

MR. EVERS:  So a large part of the environmental assessment process is proponent-driven, so the pre-submission consultation that would be undertaken by the proponent with the public or Indigenous communities up until doing field studies, putting together the documentation, that's all led by the proponent, so we can't comment on how quickly Hydro One would be able to complete that information.

However, once we do have a deadlines regulation that outlines or prescribes the deadlines for a Minister's decision on a terms of reference and an environmental assessment, so for terms of reference, once the final environmental assessment -- or final terms of reference are submitted, the Minister would make a decision after 12 weeks, on an environment assessment, once the final environmental assessment is submitted is generally 30 weeks.

However, if a Minister's decision is made after those deadlines, his decision is still valid, or his or her decision is still valid, so in that context you're looking for about 40 to 42 weeks with us, and then whatever time it would take for them to do their field studies and put together their documentation and submit it to the Ministry.

MS. CROSS:  The advice we generally give proponents is to estimate anywhere from three to five years to complete the entire environmental assessment process from terms of reference to a decision on the environmental assessment.

MR. MURRAY:  But you would agree that in some circumstances -- I believe one recent case, the Bruce to Milton, it was done in 18 months.  Is that...

MR. EVERS:  Two years and four months.

MR. MURRAY:  Two years, and that's not very good.

Now, Hydro One says it needs its EA approval by June 2019.  Is such an estimate outside of the range of what's even realistic or possible, in your view?

MS. CROSS:  In our experience, it is not something we've ever seen a proponent do.

It would assume there are no outstanding issues, that all baseline study have completed.  It is not something we've seen done in that sort of a timeframe.

MR. MURRAY:  I'd like to now turn to page 4 of your evidence -- actually, no, just before we leave that.  I think one issue here that might be different from other situations is it appears that a lot of studies have been done over a very similar area.

So to the extent that Hydro One could use that information, that may change the timelines potentially?

MR. EVERS:  I suppose it really depends on the decision, the Minister's decision on the environmental assessment, if they would be able to us that information.  So, I can't speculate.

MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask you to turn to page 4 of the evidence that you've filed.  I'm just going to read briefly from the second sentence, under the heading halfway down the page where the Ministry writes:
"It is difficult to assess whether and to what extent NextBridge's environmental assessment work could be used by Hydro One for the purpose of complying with EAA requirements."

And I this I this is following up on what we just discussed a minute ago.

Now, I'd like to take a step back and putting aside the issue of ownership and who owns the studies, does the MOECC have a policy that precludes one applicant from using the studies completed by another applicant as part of an EA application?

MS. CROSS:  We've not seen this before.  So in terms of a policy, there is nothing in writing that allows it or prohibits it.  It would, I guess, depend on a number of factors and on a case by case basis.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps I can give you an example.  Let's suppose that one applicant completed an air quality study over a certain area, and then a second applicant completed a supplemental study for the air quality which wasn't studied as part of the first study.

Could that kind of supplemental study, in addition to the original study, satisfy the MOECC's requirement with respect to an air quality study?

MR. EVERS:  Again, I don't think we've ever seen that happen, or we're not aware of that happening, so...

MR. MURRAY:  I guess what we'd say is -- you are not saying it's a non-starter.  It would depend on a situation, but it's something you'd consider at the time.

MR. EVERS:  It would be likely something that we could consider, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, I'd like to turn and talk a little bit about the NextBridge EA.

In August 2014, the MOECC approved NextBridge's terms of reference for the EA.  In your evidence, the next date I see referenced is February 16th, 2018, when they filed their amended EA.

Can you tell me a little bit about what happened between August 2014 and February 2018, in terms of the EA work that was done on the NextBridge?

MR. EVERS:  Well, a large part of that would have been NextBridge completing field studies and preparing their documentation.  After the terms of reference was approved in August 2014, that's what they would have done.  And then NextBridge did submit a draft environmental assessment to the Ministry for review.  I believe that was in December 2016, and then -- which the Ministry and others commented on it, and provided comments to NextBridge.

In July of 2017, NextBridge did submit a final environmental assessment.  Through the review, we've identified some concerns and based on that, NextBridge submitted an amended environmental assessment in February of 2018.

MR. MURRAY:  And my understanding is when that was submitted then, there was a period of -- was it either 30 or 45 days for comments, public comments on the resubmitted EA.  Do I have that right?

MR. EVERS:  Yes.  So on the amended environmental assessment, the comment period was February 16th to March 29th, 2018.

MR. MURRAY:  Did anyone provide comments on the amended EA?

MR. EVERS:  They did.

MR. MURRAY:  Did anyone oppose the construction of the EWT line in their comments?

MR. EVERS:  Not that I'm aware of, no.

MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask to -- once again on page 4, I'm now looking at the last sentence on page 4 of the evidence, where it's written:
"Once the MOECC review and consultation is complete, MOECC staff prepare a decision package for the Minister of the Environment and Climate Change.  It is anticipated that a decision package for NextBridge's East-West Tie project will be prepared for the Minister in late fall 2018."

So when I see the words late fall, I interpret that to mean November, or perhaps early December.  Is that -- am I reading that right?  Is that sort of the time period we're looking at?

MR. EVERS:  Yes, likely November, December, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And then at this point, a package goes to the Minister, a decision package?

MR. EVERS:  Well, that's -- so the Minister's decision we're anticipating for late fall 2018.  But yes, before that, a decision package would be provided to the Minister.

MR. MURRAY:  Then once the Minister has the decision package, how long does it take for the Minister to make a decision, typically?

MR. EVERS:  Yes, it's -- I can't make -- a can't make a statement about that.

MR. MURRAY:  I saw a reference to 13 weeks in like kind of the flow chart of the various things.  Is that sort of a deadline in terms of the Minister --


MR. EVERS:  It's a timeline that's prescribed in the deadlines regulation.  So once the comment period on the Minister review closes, so that five-week period, there is a 13-week period where we do issues resolution.  So if there's comments received on the Minister review, we provide those to the proponent for review and responses.  And often we'll send those back to the commenters to review as well.

And in that 13-week period, we also draft the decision package.  That's got -- that gets provided to the Minister.  So 13 weeks, yes, but again, if the Minister makes a decision after that 13 weeks, it doesn't make that decision invalid.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess what I'm saying is -- that 13-week kind of deadline period, does that kick in -- are we talking about mid November, early December.  Is it 13 weeks from there?

MR. EVERS:  The 13 weeks would be at the end of the Minister review period.  So if we published a Minister review in the summer, there would be a five week timeline for receiving comments.  And after that five week timeline, the 13 weeks would kick in.  So that late fall is the end of the 13-week timeline.

MR. MURRAY:  The 13-week timeline.  And you said you couldn't speculate as to how long the Minister would take.  Can you give me a range, in terms of -- are these things usually -- is it a week, is it two weeks?  Is it a month?

MR. EVERS:  Well, it's the Minister's decision and Cabinet concurrence, so it also has to go to Cabinet for a decision.  So it depends on the project.

MS. CROSS:  And the Cabinet schedule.

MR. MURRAY:  But we wouldn't be looking at a day or two.  It could potentially be a month or two?

MS. CROSS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Could it be longer?  Could it be six months?

MR. EVERS:  We've had that happen, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  I see reference in some of the documents to the Minister being asked to refer an environmental assessment application to the environmental review tribunal.  Can you explain to me how that process works?

MR. EVERS:  Sure.  So the Minister review document that is published by the Ministry outlines a process for interested persons, so the Indigenous communities or the public.  If there is an outstanding concern that they feel hasn't been addressed, they can submit a request for a mediation or part or all of the environmental assessment to be referred to the Environmental Review Tribunal.  Once we receive those requests we would do a review, but the Minister ultimately makes the decision whether to refer to mediation or refer to the Environmental Review Tribunal.

MR. MURRAY:  And can you give me a sense of if that request was made in the circumstance how long -- what sort of impact that would have on the time lines in terms of making a final decision on the EA?

MR. EVERS:  Based on my experience, we haven't -- we haven't had to review -- or send a project to mediation or the Environmental Review Tribunal, based on my experience, so I can't really -- I can't really comment.

MR. MURRAY:  So I guess you answered my next question.  My next question was how often does this happen.  So in your experience this doesn't happen.

MR. EVERS:  No.

MR. MURRAY:  Are you aware of any parties who said that they will take NextBridge either to the ERT or indicate that they seek some sort of judicial intervention in this matter?

MR. EVERS:  No, no, not that I'm aware of so far.

MR. MURRAY:  And one final question.  Can NextBridge kind of begin their clearing of their land without the approval for the EA, or does the EA have to be granted before that can be done?

MR. EVERS:  The EA has to be granted.

MS. CROSS:  And they would need to obtain --


MR. EVERS:  Whatever permits.

MS. CROSS:  -- permits from other regulators, including the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry.

MR. EVERS:  So the EA process is generally the first process that proponents will complete, and then there is, depending on the project, subsequent permits and approvals that need to be obtained.

MR. MURRAY:  One other question I have is -- I don't know if you are aware, but one question the Board asked be addressed in this motion is the scenario where NextBridge would build the line up until both ends of the park and then Hydro One would reinforce the line through the park.

To the extent that that scenario was to move forward, can you give me a sense, in terms of, would that require a whole new EA, would that be an amendment to the EA?  In either -- in whichever scenario it ends up being, can you give me a sense of how long that would take?

MR. EVERS:  It's complicated; it is a complex question.  I think at this point we'd have to get a clear sense of what the undertaking would be, because I think there would be additional components on that project that we would need to understand and potentially additional environmental assessment requirements, so we'd have to get a clear description of what that undertaking would be so that we could take it back and see what the EA requirements would be for that undertaking, and also taking a look at the terms of reference itself, because proponents are required to complete their environmental assessment in accordance with the terms of reference.  So we'd have to take a look in that undertaking, the description of that undertaking, to make sure that we -- it would meet the requirements of the terms of reference as well.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, correct me if I'm wrong, but my understanding is the Lake Superior Link, there's two major differences in terms of the route of the Lake Superior Link versus the East-West Tie.

One is, I think there is a detour around Dorion, and the second is going through the park.

MR. EVERS:  That's right.

MR. MURRAY:  And my understanding is both combined in the MOECC's view requires a new EA.

MR. EVERS:  Yeah, that's the guidance we've given so far.

MR. MURRAY:  But to the extent it was, for example, just going through the park but no -- the same route around Dorion, would that still generate the same new EA, or might that be an amendment or shorter process?

MR. EVERS:  They wanted to --


MR. MURRAY:  Well, I guess what I'm trying to get at is, to the extent it was just going through the -- like, there's two major routes, and obviously -- two major deviations, and that obviously creates a new EA.  I'm trying to figure out whether or not one of those by itself would have created a new EA such that going through the park with NextBridge kind of leading both sides of the park will still create the need for a full EA to be done?

MR. EVERS:  Yeah, likely.  Yeah.

MS. CROSS:  Yeah.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.  And I believe that means we're done?  Sorry.
Questions by Mr. Stevens:

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, if I may -- I'm David Stevens on behalf of NextBridge.  I just want too to understand one item that we were talking about.  It just has to do with the late fall 2018 date that we were discussing, and I just want to make sure that I understand which stage of the process we're at --


MR. EVERS:  Mm-hmm.

MR. STEVENS:  -- when we get to late fall.  And for me it would be helpful if we could do that with reference to the Appendix A flow chart that you attached in your evidence.  I believe it's attachment 1.

MR. EVERS:  Sure.

MR. STEVENS:  Am I correct in understanding that what's expected late fall 2018 is the end point of the 13 weeks' bar that's shown at the bottom of the right side?

MR. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  I believe that's all for today, and so we will reconvene -- sorry?
Questions by Mr. Warren:

 MR. WARREN:  I have one question.  Sorry, I'm instructed, Witness, that there is, in fact, in the Lake Superior Link application only one deviation, no deviation around Dorion.  It's the same route.  There's only one deviation around the park -- through the park, sorry.  Do you have any reason to quarrel with that?

MR. EVERS:  The only deviation is the Hydro One's proposal goes through the park.

 MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. EVERS:  Yes, as far as we know, yeah.

 MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Any more questions?  Okay.  With that, I think the technical conference for today is concluded.  We will reconvene tomorrow at 9:00 a.m.
--- Whereupon the conference adjourned at 4:24 p.m.
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